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On a regular basis, the Senate Insurance Committee conducts oversight hearings to examine the policies and operations of the state departments under its jurisdiction.  By providing a forum for stakeholders and the public at large, these hearings afford the Legislature the opportunity to determine how well the laws it has passed are being implemented by the executive.  

On June 30, 2004, the committee held an oversight hearing of the Department of Managed Healthcare (DMHC), the state’s HMO watchdog.  Established in 2000 to protect the state’s managed care enrollees, the DMHC has garnered praise for its fast and effective response to consumer complaints, but concern exists that the department has not done enough to ensure the financial stability of individual providers and provider groups.  The DMHC maintains a 24-hour “HMO Help Center” for enrollee complaints; administers an independent medical review process for disputes over medical necessity; oversees health plans’ finances and compliance with state statutes; and is in the process of enhanced regulation of provider reimbursement by plans and doctors’ groups.  The committee sought to explore the policies of the DMHC’s new director, Ms. Lucinda “Cindy” Ehnes, regarding these and other aspects of the department’s authority.  

The major points of discussion covered during the hearing are outlined below, along with a full transcript of the proceedings and a summary of the requests made by the committee for further information.  

I look forward to working collaboratively with Director Ehnes and the Department of Managed Health Care to continue providing enrollees with the strongest consumer protections in the nation and to ensure the financial stability of all aspects of the healthcare industry.
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Provider Reimbursement (AB 1455 Regulations)

In general, witnesses representing healthcare providers expressed concern that the DMHC has not adequately enforced laws requiring health plans to reimburse providers in a fair and timely manner, lacking either the authority or the will to do so.  Regulations that established timelines and procedures for contracting and non-contracting provider reimbursement, known as AB 1455 regulations for their enabling legislation, have been in effect since January, 2004. Generally, the regulations give the department enhanced authority to discipline plans engaged in patterns of unfair or untimely provider payments.  The chair and providers questioned whether the department should only be looking at patterns and trends of abuse or whether it should also consider individual provider complaints.  All parties acknowledged that the practice of balance-billing, in which providers charge the enrollee the difference between their billed rates and what they are reimbursed by plans or medical groups, is an unacceptable method of resolving payment disputes between payers and providers.  

The DMHC reported developing a new program within the department devoted to AB 1455 compliance.  Currently the program is staffed with positions borrowed from other units, but the department will be seeking a budget change proposal (BCP) to fill a minimum of 12-15 positions by the middle of next year.  An automated system for collecting provider complaints and identifying trends is scheduled to be up and running in September, 2004.  The department estimated that there are between 15 - 18 billion provider claims a year, and that the department receives 22-23,000 provider complaints per year.  The department reported needing roughly 9 months to identify where the problems in the claims payment system are (e.g., whether more complaints come from non-contracted providers than from contracted providers).  The department reported being in the process of 6 enforcement actions against plans for AB 1455 violations; these actions are currently confidential because they are in the “investigation” stage.  Administrative, civil, and criminal penalties are available to the department for enforcement of AB 1455.

The chair asked whether the DMHC will consider individual provider complaints as well as trends in unfair payments.  In general, the department’s response was that it does not treat individual provider complaints like it does patient complaints.  Although providers can contact the department via the HMO Help Center, and the department will help negotiate with plans, the director believes that the department is set up to handle systemic issues and wrongs, and that it is not equipped to judge fair payment levels for individual claims.  

The California Medical Association stated that the DMHC’s refusal to consider individual provider billing disputes is a Catch-22 because providers are regularly told by the courts that proper payment levels are a regulatory matter to be handled by the department; thus, they are unable to seek remedy in courts or with the department.   

Representatives of emergency physicians stated that the department has yet to clarify how it would determine that a plan’s fee schedule for non-contracted providers complies with AB 1455 regulations.  The expectation is that the DMHC will levy fines against plans when their delegated payers are grossly non-compliant with AB 1455 regulations. 

The chair suggested expanding the scope of the AB 1455 regulations to include a dispute resolution process specifically for payment disputes between providers and medical groups and health plans.  

Both the chair and Director Ehnes expressed concerns over the practice of balance-billing enrollees.  The major state emergency room physician association (Cal/ACEP) stated that plans and medical groups under-pay emergency physicians by billions of dollars per year.  If emergency room physicians lost the ability to balance-bill patients, they would lose approximately $1 billion.  The DMHC maintains that balance-billing is illegal, a position outlined in two letters it issued last year (known as the ‘Dobberteen letters’ for the attorney within the department who drafted them).  Emergency room physicians stated that a trial court has held that the position outlined in the Dobberteen letters has no basis in law.
  

Emergency physicians asked why the DMHC does not require plans to have contracts with ER physicians in order to complete their provider networks.  In response, the DMHC stated that the legal requirement is generally that HMOs have a full network of contracting providers for all medically necessary services and that, with respect to emergency rooms, HMOs assume that contracts are unnecessary to meet legal standards because they are bound to reimburse for all emergency room services.  

Emergency physicians and a hospital industry representative stated that the DMHC has not responded to data each group has submitted demonstrating AB 1455 violations by health plans or medical groups.  The hospital representative stated that the department seems unwilling to take any sort of action to enforce unfair payment patterns.  In response, the department stated that it has opened enforcement cases (as referenced above).  

The chair suggested the department consider publishing an advisory rate for non-contracted provider reimbursements as the Insurance Commissioner does for workers’ compensation rates.

Patient Access to HMOs.

Witnesses stated that HMO enrollee access to healthcare has been negatively impacted by the amount health plans spend on administrative costs, profits, and other expenses not related to patient care.  CMA noted that regulations dictating that administrative costs not exceed 15% of plan spending are inadequate.  The laws were not crafted with profit as part of the calculation because the statutes were written before for-profit health plans existed.  

CMA also referenced its annual report on health plans, which includes figures on how much income plans are routing away from patient care.  According to CMA, Blue Cross has, since 1992, maintained the “number one position” among plans for its high administrative costs (it is also reportedly the most profitable plan, and the plan from which CMA receives most of its complaints).  CMA also noted that some doctors in HMOs are not accepting new patients.  

The representative from the Foundation for Taxpayer and Consumer Rights stated that in some plans, non-medical expenses are as high as 30%, and that Blue Cross is at 21%.  The representative questioned whether current tangible net equity reserves are too high, as the reserves are subject to abuse, in his view.  The Anthem-Wellpoint merger demonstrates how some of the TNE reserves could go to profits and be routed out of the state to parent companies.  The Foundation representative also stated that there should be a way for the state to calculate so-called “incurred by not reported” (IBNR) expenses into the medical loss ratio in a way that more accurately reflects the ability of this number to grow cash within the business while still leaving a plan technically incapable of paying more for care (because the cash is earmarked for artificially inflated future claims costs). 

The chair speculated about whether a law is needed to require plans to identify which doctors are accepting new patients, and to report the information to the department.

Director’s power to waive provisions of the Knox-Keene Act

The chair asked Director Ehnes whether her power to waive provisions of the law needs safeguards against potential abuse in the future.  The director stated that it should not be restrained.  The chair asked whether waiver decisions must be made public.  Department staff replied that there is no guarantee in law that they be made public, but that the department has tried to be transparent.  

The chair stated that this is a power that may need further examination by the Legislature.  

Independent Medical Review

Although the department stated that it is not a valid comparison, data show that California’s independent medical review (IMR) process results in a higher number of decisions in favor of health plans than the national average.  The DMHC reported that the ratio of upheld plan decisions to those overturned in independent medical review have remained constant over the past several years.  One reason why plan decisions may be upheld more regularly in this state than in the nation on average is that the DMHC has an effective patient help center (the HMO Help Center) that resolves patient concerns before they go to IMR.  

The chair stated that in light of this gatekeeper role, the department should be paying strict attention to what trends in patient complaints arise in the HMO Help Center, and that it should take enforcement actions based on the trends.  

The chair expressed concern that the DMHC does not force plans to change practices based on IMR decisions.  The DMHC reported working collaboratively with health plans when trends in IMR decisions arise, and that plans have changed their practices voluntarily.  The chair requested more information on the power of the department to force plans to change practices based on IMR decisions.   

The chair requested more information about the high number of IMR cases surrounding autism.   The department stated that it will be holding a clinical advisory panel meeting with plans and experts to discuss the problem.  The chair also stated that she wants the department to do a review of the lack of plan compliance with osteoporosis screening.  

The representative of the Western Center on Law and Poverty noted that there are a low number of cases going to IMR, and suggested that the department review the process by which it refers patient complaints over medically-necessary services to IMR.  

Anthem/Wellpoint Merger

Members of the committee and witnesses discussed two major issues with respect to the Anthem/Wellpoint merger.  First was the question of how the department determines when a public hearing for a merger review is necessary.  Director Ehnes stated that she was seeking a standardization of the department’s review process to ensure that the department understands its authority for, and process governing, public hearings.  The chair asked that the public hearing criteria be shared with the committee when they are formulated.  

Second, the chair emphasized that it is important for the department to ensure that the quality of care provided by Blue Cross improves post-merger, particularly because Blue Cross scores poorly on patient care reports:  “At the very least, I think that there should be an undertaking that [Blue Cross] invest the kinds of resources, whether they’re financial or otherwise, to reflect what some of the other HMOs in California are providing.”  The chair stated that enrollees will likely pay for the executive compensation packages offered as part of the merger through higher premiums.  The department stated that it was working with Blue Cross to develop portability provisions so that enrollees forced to leave their health coverage could switch to new coverage without prejudice.  

The chair said that the department should be careful that the prices of those new products are affordable.  The department assured the chair that the department would watch this very carefully. 

Office of the Patient Advocate

According to Mr. Mendoza of the OPA , the unit’s total budget is $4.2 million per year, funded through fees on health plans.  $1 million goes to the publication of the HMO Report Card.  $2 million goes to consumer education.  The balance goes to operating expenses.  The OPA has 12 positions, 10 of which are filled, 1 of which is exempt (the appointed Patient Advocate).  A large part of the outreach fund is spent on contracts with local agencies that do outreach for OPA: 8 community-based organizations in 2003 helped provide outreach to 24,000 enrollees.  Mr. Mendoza stated that an important publication that the OPA prints for consumer education is the HMO Guide, which is distinct from the HMO Report Card.  The OPA printed about 450,000 guides in 2003-04 at a cost of $3 each.  Mr. Mendoza stated that seniors in particular have questions about HMOs that the guide is designed to address.

The chair questioned whether the OPA should be independent of the DMHC or whether it should be folded into the HMO Help Center.  The chair also questioned the need for an HMO guide if most enrollees obtain their insurance through employers that have human resources departments. 

Miscellaneous

Enforcement: In general, the chair was concerned that the department is not devoting enough of its resources to enforcing the Knox-Keene Act and its accompanying regulations.

Patient grievances: The Western Center on Law and Poverty noted that patient grievance materials filed with plans can serve as a “canary in the coal mine” to identify problems in the healthcare system, and asked that the department make these grievances public.

AB 2179:  The Western Center on Law and Poverty noted that the department did not report on the pending AB 2179 regulations in its responses to committee questions. 

Follow-up Requests for Information
 

1. A description of actions taken by the Office of Enforcement.

2. An analysis of the department’s legal authority to force plans to change policies in light of IMR trends.

3. A report on the enforcement actions the department has taken in response to IMR cases.

4. A report on the department’s review of health plans’ refusal to cover osteoporosis screening.

5. A report on the enforcement actions being brought against plans for violations of the AB 1455 regulations, when that information can be made public.

6. A report about the “Dobberteen letter” regarding patient balance-billing.  
7. A report on the trends that the department has identified in health plan licensure filings.

8. Identification of the health plan with the highest approved out-of-pocket costs.

9. The criteria by which the department determines whether public hearings are warranted (e.g., for approving mergers).

10. A description of how the department’s undertakings for the Anthem/Wellpoint merger will ensure that quality of care improves.

Changes in DMHC Since June 2004
1. Department vacancies filled since June:
A total of 9 vacancies have been filled since Director Ehnes has been with the department.  There are an additional 21 vacant.  

2. Increased resources in the enforcement unit:
7.5 positions have been reallocated to the new provider complaint unit (see below).  An additional 2 positions have been reallocated to enforcement.  
3. Status update on the AB 1455 talks with interest groups:

The department created the so-called “Reasonable and Customary Workgroup” of stakeholders to discuss possible changes to the AB 1455 process.  Stakeholders include the California Hospital Association; the California Medical Association; and The California Association of Health Plans; and others.  The group has regular meetings 3-4 weeks.  
4. Provider complaint unit:
The provider complaint unit was implemented on September 20, 2004.  The unit allows complaints to be received from individual non-contracted and contracted doctors.  Provider complaints trigger a 2-step investigation process – one looking for unfair payment patterns (systemic), and one dedicated to individual case review.  As of January 7, 2005, the unit had opened 248 cases; 160 of these were closed closed; 87 were still active.
DMHC Staffing and Budget Break-Down

 

	
	Staff
	Budget

	Office of Legal Services
	Attorney:  9

Non-Attorney:  9

Filled:  18

Vacant:  2 legal assistant, AGPA

              5 attorney

 
	$3,189,000

	Enforcement
	Attorney:  11

Non-Attorney:  12

Filled:  22

Vacant:  1 attorney

 
	$2,714,000

	Administration
	Filled:  44

Vacant: 0

 
	$4,487,000

	OTI
	Filled:  19

Vacant: 1

 
	$2,423,000

	Director’s Office
	Attorney:  4

Non-Attorney:  12

Filled:  13

Vacant:  3 Deputy Director.

 
	$1,942,000

	Help Center
	Attorney:  10

Non-Attorney:  66

Filled:  72

Vacant:  4 non-attorney

 

 
	$9,003,000

	Financial Surveys
	Examiners:  26

Filled:  28

Vacant:  2 examiners

 
	No separate budget

	Licensing
	Attorney:  14

Non-Attorney:  12

Filled:  26

Vacant:  1 attorney

 
	$7,856,000

	AB 1455 Project
	Positions on loan from other offices:  7

Attorney:  3

Examiners: 1

Non-Attorney: 3

 
	No separate budget

	Office of the Patient Advocate (OPA)

	Filled:  10

Vacant:  2

 
	$4,181,000

	 
	TOTAL DMHC BUDGET 2003-4 (including OPA)
	$35,795,000


 

Summary of positions:

Filled:  

242

Vacant:

19

Atty:

47

Examiners:
26

 Positions lost from various reductions:
40
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SENATOR JACKIE SPEIER:  Gentlemen, this is the Senate Insurance Committee and we are having an oversight hearing this afternoon on the Department of Managed Healthcare, much like this committee has done on a regular basis for the departments under its jurisdiction for purposes of legislation generally.


We are going to begin by hearing from the newly appointed director of the Department of Managed Healthcare, Ms. Cindy Ehnes, about her plans for the department.  We will then hear from Mr. Steve Thompson from the California Medical Association.  We're going to invite parties to come to these two tables so we can have this be more informal, more conversational, and hopefully more edifying.


As you all know, the department oversees more than 90 health plans and numerous physician organizations.  Its mandate is to protect over 20 million Californians who are HMO enrollees in the model of healthcare designed to manage costs by managing access to healthcare services.  Consumers rely on the Department of Managed Healthcare to ensure that their HMOs are contracting with enough doctors to see them and see them on time; that when they are denied healthcare services, they have an Independent Medical Review process to avail themselves of.

Health plans rely on the Department of Managed Healthcare having the resources to approve new products, exclusions, and markets.  Doctors rely on the department to ensure that they are paid on time and that they have a fair and fast process to challenge inadequate payments.  And the legislature relies on the Department of Managed Healthcare to enact the regulations we require it to and to enforce the Knox-Keene Act vigorously and completely.


The question today is:  How well has the department measured up to these expectations and what can a department under new leadership do better to meet them?


After the presentations, we will engage in conversation and also have input from the public at the end of this hearing.

So, director, if you'd like to come forward and bring your support staff.

And then if the stakeholders would like to—wait a second.  Hold on, hold on, hold on in the back.  We're going to have you bring chairs up alongside you.  We're going to have the second table be for the other stakeholders so we'll ask Steve Thompson, Lauren Johnson, Marjorie Swartz, Jerry Flanagan, Marty Gallegos, and Mary Griffin at the second table; so we're going to be a little crowded but it gives everyone an opportunity to be a party to this.


Well, we welcome you as the new director and look forward to your testimony.


MS. LUCINDA "CINDY" EHNES:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  My name is Cindy Ehnes and I am director of the Department of Managed Healthcare.  I have been in my position for an action-packed three-and-a-half months, and I came to California from Colorado where I had a legal career that was largely focused on consumer advocacy and on strong enforcement of insurance laws.


Having come from a background in disability rights, I think I was a very good advocate but there was one thing that I think I didn't understand very well, and that was fear.  And that fear is that—fear that you feel when you become ill and you don't have insurance coverage and that fear of having to trust a group of doctors to do the right thing and to give you the right treatment and the fear of wondering if your health plan will back them up.

Then it happened to me.  I became ill two years ago.  At the time, I was, because my husband's job changed to California, I was between coverage and did not have health insurance.  So I learned a very important lesson about the fact that there are two groups of consumers and that those two groups of consumers are those that have insurance and those—and want the best coverage possible and the right treatment at the right time-and those that do not have insurance and that struggle with that.


I was lucky.  I recovered.  But many are still struggling and they don't know if they can depend on health coverage to be available and to take care of their medical needs.  So I am very pleased to have the opportunity to work, to ensure access to medically necessary care as well as working to keep healthcare affordable and available to more people.

Today I'm pleased to be reporting on the accomplishments of the DMHC in the last 90-plus days as well as since the last oversight hearing in discussing our future direction and goals.  I am exceptionally pleased and proud to represent DMHC's 242 outstanding employees, some of whom are with me today to testify on their areas of expertise in response to your questions.

Before I start our formal presentation, however, I wish to publicly acknowledge and thank my predecessor, Daniel Zingale, for creating an organization that is infused with passion.  And I wish to thank former acting director, Jim Tucker, for continuing to build an organization that translates that passion into everyday action.  My predecessor likened the  function of the DMHC to a control tower to protect HMO enrollees and to provide stability in the managed-care industry.  I agree with that characterization, and so my first order of business on the job was to renew the commitment to the HMO Help Center as the centerpiece of the DMHC and to renew the commitment to our goal to stop harm before it happens.

My predecessors executed that priority of focusing on the enrollee extremely well.  But since it is impossible to do everything in a short three years, there is unfinished business of the department in being more responsive to the needs of other stakeholders.  And so, in my first 90 days, we have prioritized vigorous enforcement of AB 1455 and initiated an electronic-provider complaint review process for claims payment issues.  We have finalized the draft of the long-delayed SB 260 financial solvency requirements and corrective action plans regulation.  We've commenced a major overhaul of systems and staff in the licensing division to address the concerns that that review process was too cumbersome to keep pace with the rapidly changing HMO market.

Our goals—our speed to market for the products, consistency and policy application and predictability and outcome.  We've also begun to address a critical lack of legal staff in the licensing section.  We have initiated a review of DMHC's enforcement division, to examine those enforcement priorities and the resources, and to ensure that we can be vigorous and successful in enforcement cases that truly address systemic issues.

We hosted a CEO summit for the heads of both commercial and government HMOs to discuss how to keep the HMO product affordable and available to California employers and employees.  We are drafting a regulation to implement the Cultural and Linguistics Services law, the access regulation, and the prescription drug regulation, and are implementing continuity-of-care requirements on health plans under your bill, Senate Bill 244.  We are upgrading staff knowledge regarding the current state of the healthcare industry and health policy issues.  It is my intention that we will build a team of health policy experts in addition to being experts in their areas, respective areas of legal expertise.

We are initiating planning for the work of the Cost Containment Commission, the Managed Care Advisory Task Force, the Financial Standards Solvency Board, and are spearheading a coordinated industry and state approach to the issues of obesity prevention and treatment.  I also meet on a regular basis with all stakeholders, consumers, health plans, providers, and medical groups.  The DMHC is working very hard to fulfill our mission of consumer protection.

Now I wanted to ask my chief deputy, Lou Chartrand, to assist me in discussing some background facts and our priorities, unless you have some questions at this time.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Actually, I think what we'll do is we'll have you testify and then I'd like to move onto Mr. Thompson and then we'll open—

MS. EHNES:  That's fine.

SENATOR SPEIER:  --up for questions.

MR. LOU CHARTRAND:  Thank you, Madam Chairman.

The department, as Ms. Ehnes…

SENATOR SPEIER:  Would you identify yourself for the record, Mr. Chartrand.

MR. CHARTRAND:  Okay.  My name is Lou Chartrand.  I am chief deputy director of the Department of Managed Healthcare.

The department currently has 242 filled positions, 19 vacancies.  And over the last two years, the department's lost 40 positions from various budget reductions.  Our total budget for this year is 35.7 million.

The department is broken down into six core programs.  They are the enforcement office, Office of Legal Services, the Help Center, the licensing unit, financial surveys, and our new function that we've taken on is the AB 1455, compliance project.  The Office of Enforcement is responsible, as you would guess, for investigating and enforcing all violations of the Knox-Keene Act.  We have 22 positions there, one vacancy, currently have 236 open cases, 106 financial cases, and 130 health plan standard cases.

SENATOR SPEIER:  I'm sorry.  Could you repeat those figures for us again.

MR. CHARTRAND:  Sure.  We have 236 open cases currently.

SENATOR SPEIER:  These are open cases relative to enforcement actions?

MR. CHARTRAND:  Yes.

SENATOR SPEIER:  So these are plans that have not complied with the Knox-Keene Act or providers.  Who are these?

MR. CHARTRAND:  These are primarily plans that have had various violations—financial cases, 106 of those.   They involve T&E violations, failing to report, et cetera, and then 130 health-plan standards cases where they haven't provided the necessary care or there's a wide range.  If you'd like a breakdown on those, we could provide that to you.

The office—Ms. Ehnes at the outset sat down with the enforcement office and laid out what our priorities are there.  And Cindy, if you'd like to do that.

MS. EHNES:  Well, I wanted to make sure that we were in fact litigating and bringing the cases that were most significant and in impacting access to care, continuity of care, and the financial stability of the health plans so we are currently undertaking this review--it's going to be completed very shortly—and we're going to see what that does in terms of impacting resources but that's an area that's important to me.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Now you have a vacancy in the chief position for the Office of Enforcement which is a little troubling.

MR. CHARTRAND:  That's correct.  We're in the process of advertising and attempting to fill a position.

SENATOR SPEIER:  So how many vacancies do you have in enforcement?

MR. CHARTRAND:  I believe we have one vacancy currently and that would be the—

SENATOR SPEIER:  Top job.

MR. CHARTRAND:  --chief position, right.

SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.

MR. CHARTRAND:  Office of Legal Services.  The Office of Legal Services serves as the general legal counsel to the department.  The functions include adopting regulations, handling public-records requests, planning and implementing the department's legislative programs, and defensive litigation.  Currently, four regulation packages have moved forward this year and we have approximately ten that we expect to complete by the end of the year.

Public Records Act request.  We've received 191 requests to date.

Legislation.  We've analyzed and monitored 40 bills this past session.

Defensive litigation.  We're currently involved in four cases in superior court.  We have 18 filled positions in Office of Legal Services with seven vacancies and a $3.1 million budget for that office.

MS. EHNES:  May I interject just quickly there.  There, our concern was that we needed to streamline the regulation process without sacrificing public input to that process.  And so we have been looking at a way to gain that public input through using a web portal that allows us to get that regulatory comment online and allow somebody to just kind of type it in, much like the federal system uses, and that seems to work pretty well.  It is just a real concern that this whole process hopefully moves a little more quickly to increase the consistency and predictability.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Thank you.


Mr. Chartrand, can we go back to the Office of Enforcement?  How many positions do you have there?


MR. CHARTRAND:  We have 23 positions total, 22 filled, and one vacancy.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Thanks.

Go ahead.


MR. CHARTRAND:  The Help Center is set up to assist consumers with healthcare issues, ensure enrollees get medical care and services that they're entitled to.  We're open 24 hours a day, seven days a week, that we get approximately 8,000 to 10,000 calls per month there, and we have agents there to answer the phone who are fluent in Spanish, Chinese, and English.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now if I recall correctly, the Help Center was open 24 hours a day for patient enrollee consumers but only 9:00-5:00 for providers.  Is that still the case or have you extended the hours?


MR. CHARTRAND:  I believe it's 9:00-5:00 for providers.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Go ahead.


MR. CHARTRAND:  Also at the Help Center, there are, we have the survey, Medical Survey Division.  They have been evaluating and promoting regulatory compliance of the plans, trying to foster quality improvement.  We usually conduct approximately 30 surveys, routine surveys, per year there.


MS. EHNES:  Again, may I interject?  This particular area, the area of surveys, and the area of plan compliance through the survey mechanism, is an area that is possibly my strongest background area as director of enforcement in Colorado.  I implemented our audit process for plan compliance in the area of HMO and patient protection laws, and I’m a real believer that it is that kind of solid, steady process that gains good compliance over a period of time where you really create that accountability through that process.


Right now, what we're focusing on is very much mental health parity and compliance for the mental health parity bills to ensure that that has been properly implemented at the health plan level.


SENATOR SPEIER:  We'll come back to many of these issues because in your prepared responses to our questions, there were a number of other issue areas that we should probably address.


MR. CHARTRAND:  Licensing division is responsible for reviewing all license applications and reviewing all amendments which includes material modifications to license filings.  We've noticed a 28 percent increase in filings over the past four years.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now I hate to interrupt again, Mr. Chartrand, but can we go back to the Help Center and tell us how many positions are filled and how many vacancies?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Okay.  Seventy-two filled positions with four vacancies currently and  $9 million budget.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How much is the enforcement budget?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Yes.  I think it's about—it's $2.7 million.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And the health plan oversight, how many positions?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Pardon me.  I didn't hear the question.


SENATOR SPEIER:  The health plan oversight, how many positions filled and vacancies?


MR. CHARTRAND:  It would be licensing, right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You're talking about licensing?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Right.  Licensing has 27 total positions, 26 filled with one vacancy currently.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And that's licensing and financial oversight?


MR. CHARTRAND:  No.  Well, financial oversight has 28 positions filled with two vacancies.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So within this particular division, you have 54 filled and two vacancies?

MR. CHARTRAND:  It looks like three vacancies.

SENATOR SPEIER:  I'm looking at your boxes here for it.  Okay.  So 54 filled and three vacancies?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Right. 


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  And the budget there?


MR. CHARTRAND:  The budget is combined.  I don't have the breakout on both licensing and financial survey so it's 7.8 million.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And you said you had an increase in filing; is that what you're saying?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Yes.  Twenty-eight percent increase over the past four years.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And the filing would be for modifications to a plan.  Is that…


MR. CHARTRAND:  Amendments, modifications to plan licensure; also applications for licensure as well.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  We'll come back to that but I'm curious as to what kind of trends you're seeing in those.


MR. CHARTRAND:  Okay.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Did you want to say anything about licensing?  Okay.


MS. EHNES:  Let me add one comment there just real quickly.  One of the focal points that I tried to provide coming in was to try and look at a more accountable review process by introducing development of review guidelines in both the licensing area and—well, actually, the financial oversight area had already been well underway there.  But that was another area where we just needed to get a hold of what it was we were doing and how we were doing it, okay?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Okay.  Just a quick overview of the financial surveys, that the financial survey team does routine and non-routine financial exams of plans.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now is this the division of financial oversight that you're talking about now?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Yes, yes.  On a three-year cycle, we send our financial examiners out to each plan on average.  We've conducted approximately 45 surveys per year.  The way that it's set up is to try and spend more time with plans that might be having some financial problems and so we might examine those more frequently, as you might suspect.  In the financial surveys area, we have 28 staff positions filled, two vacancies. 


Our new program that we're undertaking is our AB 1455 compliance.


SENATOR SPEIER:  As I'm looking at this org chart, is that coming under the Office of Health Plan Oversight?


MR. CHARTRAND:  No.  Probably doesn't have a box on there yet.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Where are you going to put it?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Right now, under the executive office as we're trying to get it going, but it'd probably be with the health plan oversight, I would guess, ultimately.


MS. EHNES:  It has many overlapping jurisdictions because it obviously implicates the Help Center activities.  It has an impact on the financial auditing process as a primary source of enforcement and also then into the enforcement area, and Kevin Donohue from the executive office has been spearheading that so it's got a lot of overlap.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And you designated how many positions for this?


MR. CHARTRAND:  We have borrowed positions from various other units to try to get the position—or the program—going.  We'll be seeking a BCP to fill or seek more positions for them, the project.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So how many people would you anticipate being assigned to this function?


MR. CHARTRAND:  It's hard to know right now. 


MR. KEVIN F. DONOHUE:  Hello.  Kevin Donohue, senior counsel to the director's office.


We are right in the process now—we've hired a consultant that designed the program for us.  The difficulty we have is we don’t know the volume but we have figured out that an average full-time equivalent individual could probably handle 40 to 55 cases at any particular time so it's really a factor.  I think that our initial projections are depending on how successful our automated results and trending will be, probably a minimum of 12 to 15 positions we would need at least by the middle of next year.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And the budget for that?


MR. DONOHUE:  I don't think we completed our budget because the program isn't up and running.  The program is scheduled to go live in September of this year once it's built, but it's an automated system that will bring all the information and automatically do the trending, so we're literally in the middle with our IT folks and with our consultants to track it, but it will be modeled very closely to the way that we've handled enrollee complaints so that we've seen through our experience there how we've been able to streamline and use efficiency.  So we're using that as the model and we have approximately at least one individual from each of our divisions who have expertise in that area, and we have brought them together so we can get the systems up and running.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But you're also going to take individual complaints from providers, aren't you, separate from looking at trends?


MR. DONOHUE:  Well, on trends, trends only occur by looking at individual provider complaints.  So the answer is, yes, this system is based and will allow a provider 24 hours a day to submit a claim electronically.  And for the first time, we will be able to report and quantify exactly where the problems are occurring.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  If I recall correctly, 1455 required a pattern of abuse; is that correct?


MR. DONOHUE:  AB 1455 added a new dimension to claims payment which included additional enhanced penalties that the department was authorized to do if in fact they found a demonstrable unjust payment pattern.  Thirteen seventy-one that pre-existed the AB 1455 regulations authorized the department to take action where appropriate on even an individual violation that warrant it.  So we have both—we have authority in both areas.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  We'll come back to that.  I think there's just a lot of concern about the implementation of 1455 and how valuable it really is, and one of my questions later will be, do we need more teeth in it?  We'll get to that.  Let's get through the rest of the overview.


MR. CHARTRAND:  That's all I had on the overview.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So the Office of Technology and Innovation…

MR. CHARTRAND:  I didn't prepare that but I can give you some of the stats from that.  Hold on.

The Office of Technology and Innovation has 19 filled positions with one vacancy.

SENATOR SPEIER:  What do they do?

MR. CHARTRAND:  We have been trying to automate our office and very forward-looking programs tried to attract various trends in offices, data bases.  This area of regulation, we've discovered that we absolutely need to automate because we don't have enough bodies to…

SENATOR SPEIER:  So this is your IT function?

MR. CHARTRAND:  It is.

SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  What's the budget in here?

MR. CHARTRAND:  It's 2.4 million.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  And then the Office of Administrative Services?

MR. CHARTRAND:  The admin office has zero vacancies, 44 positions; 4.4 million budgeted there.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  In looking at the org chart, it appears—frankly, I'm surprised that you have so few vacancies as I compare you to other divisions and departments.  But you do appear to have significant vacancies in leadership positions within the department, whether it's the deputy director, the deputy director of external affairs, the deputy director for plan and provider relations, the Office of Health Plan Oversight, and the office of enforcement.

MR. CHARTRAND:  That's correct.  We do have those vacancies.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is that because people were asked to leave at the end of that administration and you just haven't filled them yet?


MR. CHARTRAND:  That's a yes.  Most of those people have gone on and we haven't filled them.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.


MR. CHARTRAND:  We're recruiting for some of the positions currently, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And not all of them?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Not all of them.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Which ones are you not recruiting for?


MR. CHARTRAND:  That I haven't—well, as you know, some of these are exempt positions and we've got to go through the process with the Governor's Office for approval.
SENATOR SPEIER:  So which ones are exempt?  I actually don't necessarily know.


MR. CHARTRAND:  I don’t have a list right here in front of me.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Would this help you if I showed you this?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Yes.  It would.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Why don't you hand him…


MR. CHARTRAND:  Okay.  In the Office of the Director, to my knowledge, the deputy director for External Affairs is an exempt appointment.  The deputy director position is exempt.  The deputy director for Plan and Provider Relations is an exempt appointment.


SENATOR NELL SOTO:  If those places are vacant and you're not recruiting for them, then maybe you should eliminate them, some of the costs.


MR. CHARTRAND:  Well, some of these positions—the people filling these positions—took various positions within the prior administration and we're inquiring about the status of those and…


SENATOR SOTO:  You're getting along without them, right?


SENATOR SPEIER:  I would suggest, along with Senator Soto, it's one thing to have vacancies in second-level management or in rank and file.  It's a different—the majority of your leadership team isn't there which is not comforting and hopefully this message will get to the horseshoe.


So you've got three exempts.  How many more exempts are vacant?


MR. CHARTRAND:  That would be…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Or how many more vacancies are exempt, I should say?


MR. CHARTRAND:  I think that's all we have that are exempt.  We filled, just recently, the deputy director for communications.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So the people that left these positions were exempt but some of them have return rights so they've gone back into the organization or gone elsewhere in state service?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Gone elsewhere, outside the department.  I don't know where they're at.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And the belief was because they didn't have the same philosophy; no point in keeping them on board?


MR. CHARTRAND:  No.  They left on their own accord at the end of the administration.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  All right.  Anything further then?


MR. CHARTRAND:  No.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  We'll come back and go through some of those, but I’m delighted to see Steve Thompson here and I know he has to leave.  So I want to be mindful of your time, Mr. Thompson, if you would like to present at this point.


MR. STEVE THOMPSON:  Well, I must tell you, I'm delighted to be here too, Senator.  (Laughter)


SENATOR SPEIER:  And for a long time to come, I trust.  I just found out how old you actually are, Steven.  You really are in good shape.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you don't have to tell them all here (laughter) because I'm passing for younger.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You are.


MR. THOMPSON:  Senator Soto, Senator Speier, my name is Steve Thompson with the California Medical Association and I have with me—that you can sit in later, Astrid Meghrigian, who's done a lot of the specific work on this.  But what I thought I would do, if I can take a moment, is to frame the context of change that's occurred in California since the Knox-Keene Act was enacted, and operative , in 1977, versus now.


In my opinion, the Knox-Keene Act should be one of the proudest legislative achievements over time.  If you read it, it is one of the richest bodies of law to establishing financial solvency and concern for patient services.  That came because, in an unregulated world, prepaid health programs had been subject to enormous abuse, the representations of what they've provided, and they started at primarily as Medi-Cal providers with the exception of Kaiser.


The Knox-Keene Act was written with those parts of the responsible industry that felt the concept of prepayment, which eventually became called HMOs, was ruining the reputable providers of the system.  So the very genesis of the law was rooted in what I think are the best values that one can have.  If you read the intent section of the law—and I won't read it, I promise—that alone can tell you exactly what was intended.  It's short, it's sparse, it's neat.  What it really says…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Did you write it?  (Laughter)


MR. THOMPSON:  No.  I did not.  Actually, Jack Knox wrote it himself or a reasonable facsimile.


In the first years, I was a member of the first advisory board for the Knox-Keene Act from 1977 to '81.  During that time, we came up with many of the regulations, I might add, that haven't gone any further in their sophistication, since I must tell you, are rather simple approaches, trying to design a law that didn't have a design to it.  But the important thing was, that of the first 14 plans licensed, 13 were not-for-profit plans.  And thus, the change in the world for HMOs, from not-for-profit to for-profit plans, in my view, today, has created a far more fundamental and important responsibility for the department at that time because you cannot deny that many of those changes occurred and we have a whole paper on that which I'll submit to you.


The conversion of not-for-profit to for-profit plans, in our opinion, financially benefited only shareholders, officers, and members of the boards of trustees of these companies and it created the incentive to spend as little as you needed to, on direct-patient care, in order to maximize profits.  Thus the role of the regulator becomes even more important today than it was when this act originated.  And you needn't go.  You've already been to hearings on that.  But the conversion, the HMO industry has created probably more millionaires since 1977 in California than any other single area of our economy.  That means the cautions that the legislature established in those early years are even tougher in terms of enforcement. 


How do you ensure that a health plan that's licensed by the State of California meets the tests that the legislature set forth as far back as 1977?  The first test, and an important one, is they've got to be solvent.  They have to be able to deliver what they advertise to patients.

I must tell you, with the exception of a few bankruptcies, right now, the for-profit industry is more solvent than at any time in its history in spades.  So the question of solvency, at least in the large plans, in our opinion, has not been the issue.  The issue has been how that has been achieved.  In many instances, the risk for that responsibility has been delegated to physician groups, many of whom are no longer here and you know that better than anybody.


We still have not gone beyond the first regulations that define access in terms of the  number of full-time physician equivalents should be available per number of enrollees, an issue that was actually a regulation years ago.  We had a regulation that's still in the books and it occurred when there was not-for-profit plans, that administrative costs, except for developing plan, should not exceed 15 percent.  And one might say, well, that doesn't include profit and it does not in that regulation.  That's because there were no for-profit plans.  But obviously the intent was to put 85 cents of every dollar back in the hands of patients and the people that treat them.  So we believe over a long period of time—and I must tell you that we are heartened somewhat cautiously—that Ms. Ehnes is going to take the bull by the horns and enforce some of these critical components of state law and regulation which are fundamental to whether people get services. 


I remember last year, for example, the then director was proud of the number of consumer complaints that were coming the way of the department and that they added 40 new telephone lines.  The complaints come because the basic system isn't functioning.  People can't get to see physicians; they are shuffled off; they don't have direct access.  And if you don't deal with the basic structure of the system, you can be as proud as you can of the largest consumer complaint filed in the world and you will have closed your eyes to the reasons why the complaints come.  We have believed for a long time, and I must tell you the market has gotten somewhat better because you simply can't bankrupt every group, that the department failed to take any responsibility over the delegated risk and the nature of the delegated risk and whether those plans had delegated the risk in a manner insufficient for the physicians to deliver the services and survive.  And, of course, the proof's in the pudding and the number of insolvencies that have occurred in that regard.


So those are some of the larger issues that we face in terms of this.  The legislature has continually come back with legislation--your SB 260, which, has never been implemented; AB 1445, (sic) which is just being implemented—so the whole question of legislative direction, how fast that direction is implemented, and how it's supplied to these health plans, is crucial.  We have a marketplace for people who need care immediately.  Three- and four-year waits to develop legislation following the enactment of bills passed by the legislature, to me, is just unacceptable.


There are provisions of the law that are critical.  We think that the corrective action-plan component of your legislation—and I think those regulations, I've been told—are at the agency level awaiting approval.  To us, the non-implementation of that probably meant at least three or four medical groups went out of business.  The fast implementation with a corrective action plan, even if it needed an actuarial adjustment, would have saved many of those medical groups.


So that's our general view of the law.  The responsibility is very great because the incentives of most of the for-profit plans are to squeeze the profits out of delivery of service to patients or reimbursement to providers, and that means the function today is vastly more important when the legislature stepped in and passed the very first licensing law in the United States and I think I'll stop there because you may have some questions.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Let me just ask you a few questions.


You didn't reference limited licensees?


MR. THOMPSON:  I did not because that was such an abysmal failure.  We never thought they had the statutory authority to do so.  Half of them, two-thirds went bankrupt, belly up, or shuffled off to Buffalo, and there is a moratorium on it.  I think the previous administration or the current administration is not desirous of extending the limited license context but they can speak for themselves.


SENATOR SOTO:  When you get put on hold for a long time or you get a computer answer, you call Buffalo.  You don't get it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's better than New Delhi.


SENATOR SOTO: Be careful of the buffalo.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now we know.


If I'm understanding the response that the department made to a series of questions, the power to create these limited licensees was taken from the director's power to waive the Knox-Keene Act decisions; is that your understanding as well?


MR. THOMPSON:  That's my understanding.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you have any comments about that power and whether it should be reviewed in?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we never thought it was plenary.  And I think that putting it in the statute was that, if a plan didn't specifically meet everything, it could be approved.  However, this was approval of limited licensees.  They did not have to meet the equivalent reserve requirements of a health plan and it was an abysmal failure, and it was an abysmal failure primarily because almost every limited licensee was a for-profit plan.  A ton of money was taken out of those limited license plans before they went bankrupt.


So like a lot of other industries, there has been a lot of money taken out of these plans, and the bankruptcy is usually fallen on providers and patients, not the originators of the plan.  Even though they went bankrupt, they created millionaires too.


SENATOR SPEIER:  The 15 percent reference to administrative costs, which I guess through interpretation—well, because we were under the impression that most of these plans would be not…


MR. THOMPSON:  That's a very old regulation.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Have you, within the medical association, tried to come up with how much is not going to patient care by virtue of the administrative costs and the profits that these health plans are making?


MR. THOMPSON:  We haven't translated it into specific services but for a long period of time—and we issue an annual report—for a long period of time, the winners in that category have been consistent.  Blue Cross delivers the lowest percentage and has maintained number one position since 1992.  It's also the most profitable health plan and it's one which we get the most complaints.


I must tell you, that as we get into that, we have a federal lawsuit under the racketeering statutes against them so I'm not speaking to anything that's in the lawsuit.  I'm just letting you know that's what we're doing.  And so far, it's been maintained in court despite a battery of attorneys.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Do have any comments on the adequacy of AB 1445 (sic) in terms of prompt payment to physicians?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we had hoped, and that's a very important question because we, along with the hospital association, were the sponsors of that bill.  And we had hoped it would create, which the department did not have—and I think that their response there was accurate--they did not have sufficient, statutory authority to force payment disputes unless it were a contracted physician particularly.  So the purpose of 1455 was to set up a mechanism to resolve the billing disputes between non-contracted providers and health plans and, in some instances, the delegated medical groups.  It requires a dispute mechanism for non-contracted physicians.


You're raising an interesting dilemma because the department has told us that they don't have the authority to adjudicate individual billing disputes with physicians.  They have the authority to assure that their mechanisms and structures meet the test of the law, so the courts have told us it's a regulatory responsibility.  So we introduced legislation this year, SB 1569, to say, okay, if the department doesn't have the regulatory authority, a physician can go to court to resolve that dispute.  Interestingly enough, the department has indicated they will probably take an opposed position.  So, yes, Yossarian is alive.  He lives in the tree ?? and Catch 22 works.  They physician is told by the court to go to the regulator and the regulator says they don't have the authority but our opposing legislation that would give the physician the authority to go to court and I find that Catch 22.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What if we expanded 1445 (sic) to create a dispute resolution process that included disputes between medical groups and the plan?


MR. THOMPSON:  We would be very open to that.  But so far—and I haven't asked Ms. Ehnes that question so far—and the previous director would have opposed that approach because they weren't in the business of resolving financial issues in the marketplace.  That wasn't their concern.  The fact of the matter is, the rest of the system doesn't work.  The whole system was created to assure solvency so the service could be delivered.  So I have found, that at least with Ms. Ehnes's predecessor, intellectually odd.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay, 1455.  I misspoke earlier, for the record.


All right.  Ms. Ehnes, would you like to comment on expanding 1455?


MS. EHNES:  Well, may I comment just a little more generally to those and then I'd also like Kevin Donohue who's really been spearheading 1455.


First of all, the one thing that I really need to have very publicly stated and publicly understood, and I express this when I spoke in front of the medical association group, the physician and other providers are the one entity or the one person that actually touches the patient and it isn't an insurance company that touches the patient.  It is therefore extremely important that, unlike an insurance company that takes their cut off the top and unlike a provider group that also gets a share of the premium dollar, it is only the provider that ends up potentially taking a gamble on getting paid and that is not acceptable, and it is not acceptable to this department, period.  I have tried to say that as plainly as I possibly can.


Now moving to, what do you do about that?  The saying, that by and large an institution like ours is set up to do is to look at systemic types of issues and to address systemic wrongs and to right those at a more systemic level, I certainly don't—and I don't know anywhere in our organization as currently staffed that has the expertise—to take a physician's bill for bill charges and to say, Well, you know, I think that bill is a little high.  Maybe you can just plan on taking a little less there and everything will work out.  Or, You know, the right number isn't $700.  The right number if $650.


That just isn't a capacity that we currently have and I’m not sure that that would be the appropriate use of a government entity.  What our appropriate use is, is to set up a system where in fact we take that claim from the provider and that we, first of all, make sure that that claim has a place to go, the dispute resolution mechanism that you framed into 1455, that the dispute resolution system in my background and training as a mediator has to have certain hallmarks of fair process that ensures that that process works.


After that, then in fact we need to make sure that they have an adequate method for calculating a payment methodology for non-contracted providers.   We will be doing that.  We are very committed to doing that and to doing that well.  But if we turn into a claims processing agency, that will require a completely different staffing than we're currently staffed for.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Let me give you a perspective that is different from yours.


Your predecessor actually came down to my district on two or three occasions and met with the medical society in my district, and there was probably 40 or 50 physicians there.  Their beef at the time—this was before AB 1455 had become law—was that they just weren't getting paid.  It was all part of the frenzy around the fiscal insolvencies and the number of bankruptcies.  And Mr. Zingale at the time said, Call our number.  That help line is there for the patient as well as the provider.  To be fair, well, it's 9:00 to 5:00.  It's not open 24 hours like it is for the consumers.


The expectation was, there would be nudging.  I mean I think of the Help Center as being the nudge.  I mean the negotiating techniques that you say you don't believe that you possibly have are indeed, what was certainly utilized in the previous administration with consumer complaints being filed and calls being made to the plants and negotiations taking place in three-way calling which, I presume you still have to try and resolve disputes.  So I think it is there for the consumer patient.  And, as you say, the person who touches that patient is the key to the quality of care that is provided in the state because I would argue that there's a role for the department there.  Certainly your predecessor thought there was.  Now whether in fact we can say that he acted upon—and I can't recall.  I don't remember what the satisfaction was in terms of his resolve to deal with those disputes but 1455 doesn't go far enough.


I don't know if we need another law to deal with this issue or whether it's a matter of you using these powers that you have to do what Mr. Zingale did which was to say that there is a problem here and we need to help.  I mean you carry a big stick.


MS. EHNES:  I agree.  We do carry a big stick and we're going to be using it and it is not intended to say that these processes of negotiation and of job owning won't be used, but it is a very difficult proposition to take an individual claim that has 20 pieces of paper connected to it and it has been submitted and the response is, Well, you upcoded and therefore we're going to downcode; and then you want to get paid billed charges but we think you should only get Medicare plus 120 percent or 120 percent of Medicare.


Those are the kinds of determinations of an exact amount of money that I do not believe is in our current area of expertise.  What is in our current expertise and is very strong, I think, is the ability to take a more systemic look at issues so that we focus in on ensuring that appropriate mechanisms for proper claims payment on noncontracted providers is in place, that those processes are working much like we use, just as we do, the model being, like the Help Center, where we enforced—that the grievance systems in health plans work as the first line of defense.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  I don't think we're going to resolve this here.  But I will say to you, when we've spent hundreds of hours developing the fiscal solvency law, one of the biggest complaints by providers was they were strung out for 22, 24, 26 months without any payment from the health plans and it was a serious contributing factor to many of these entities going belly up.  So that to me is part and parcel of your role in the fiscal solvency area.  You've got to look at that.


MS. EHNES:  We don't disagree on that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  In the end, when there is that kind of a pattern—I mean it's all about slow pay.  It's all about using someone else's money and that's what was going on then.  I don’t know if it's still going on now, but I would venture to say, since 260 was never really implemented—it probably is—and that's not right.


MS. EHNES:  We totally agree.  I want to allow Kevin just the opportunity to address that because he actually has been responsible for implementation.


MR. DONOHUE:  Very shortly.  I can spend days on this.  It's been my life for the last year.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, join the club.  (Laughter)


MR. DONOHUE:  But I can tell you one thing and the dynamic has changed.  I think if everyone gives this process a little bit of time, we will be able to report to you and to the public where we think the problems are.


Right now, we don't even know exactly how many claims are being processed a year.  We have conjecture, on my part, from doing a canvassing of probably somewhere between 15 and 18 billion claims a year.  The department receives approximately 22 to 3,000 provider complaints a year.  And whether we have the telephone operating or not, they can submit that form 24 hours a day through our portal currently.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I understand but I will also tell you—excuse me for interrupting—that some of these providers are just not filing because they're so frustrated that there's not going to be any results.  So I don't think you can somehow suggest, that based on 15 billion billings and 3,000 complaints, that there's necessarily a relationship.


MR. DONOHUE:  I know there's not a relationship and that's why it's so critical, when we design our program that we can extract the information from that databank that's coming in, even on a limited number, to find the outlyers, to trigger where is the problem.  Is the problem with contracted providers or non-contracted providers?  If it's only with non-contracted providers, we know where to focus our enforcement efforts.  If it's with contracting providers, we caught it.  We understood your message.  With AB 1455, in your preamble, you told us, Develop a new a more efficient system of claims submission, processing, and payment.  And if you look to the AB 1455 regulations, 37 pages sets forth—there's no more games.  The days where a plan or an IPA or a medical group can request document after document after document are gone.  We have set the standard.  It’s the minimum amount of information necessary, whether they have a contract or not.  You can't demand it in your contracts.  We have put into place, because one of the problems that we heard loud and clear was, They keep losing my claim.  That's why they've got to acknowledge it in two days, two business days, so that provider can call up and he doesn't have to wait three or six months to find out where it is.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  You know what?  We're going to take you on your word and we're going to talk to you in six months, okay?


MR. DONOHUE:  Give me nine, but yes.  I've got to get to a billing cycle but give me nine.


MS. EHNES:  We need a billing cycle.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  We'll talk to you in nine months, all right?  We'll give you nine months to deliver.


MR. DONOHUE:  Surely.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Other questions of Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  I was just going to follow up briefly.  Fifteen sixty-nine that allows physicians to go to court on a billing dispute is hardly the physician's first-choice approach to resolving these disputes.  We are promoting that bill out of frustration that we have nowhere else to go to resolve these disputes.  Your point about physicians not phoning—they're referred back to the plans and they've already gone through the plan's dispute mechanisms.  So without somebody to resolve those disputes, and I'm not sure that it is the role of the department.  We think when the court makes a decision, that has an overlying effect in other reimbursements but there needs to be some resolution of this because physicians just stop phoning.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I have another idea that I want to propose to you, Mr. Thompson, and I want to introduce it as a bill next year, and that is, to give physicians the opportunity to receive deductions, tax credits—you name it—for payments that are not made and that might get everybody's attention, particularly the general fund's attention, if we actually figure out how much money is being donated by physicians in the state who are not being paid for the services they render.


MR. THOMPSON:  The upshot of that is not just physician payments.  If you look at the recent report out of the policy center in UC San Francisco and if we had accurate data of how many physicians are truly on these panels, you will find that the number of physicians actually participating in the managed care plans is declining as our population grows.  Nobody that has their physician panels tells you who's not accepting new patients and who isn't.  So the basic impact of this problem falls on patients and it falls on access to care.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So do we need to actually require plans to identify who's accepting new patients and inform the department of that?


MR. THOMPSON:  That's certainly one idea or converting.  They have a regulation.  It evolved from the original Kaiser standards back in the late '70s that there be one primary-care physician for every 1,200 full-time enrollees—or enrollees—and one for 2000.  With Kaiser, that's easily calculatable because it's a closed system and the physicians treat the Kaiser patients.  That has never been converted to any practical application for any other plan other than Kaiser.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Thank you.  We wish you well.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Why don't we go back now to your responses, and I'm just going to run through and ask some questions for clarification purposes and we'll go onto some of these issues.


In terms of SB 260, it is your expectation, that by the end of the year, those regulations will be approved and you will be operational?


MS. EHNES:  Yes.  That is our expectation.  We're working on that to try and get that through agency and obviously implemented.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And when will we be able to see it, a copy of that?


MR. DONOHUE:  It should be by the end of the month, at the latest.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So it will be public by the end of the month?


MR. DONOHUE:  That's what I would hope.  It's a little bit out of our control because gotta get the agency but that would—this is June, end of July.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I was hoping for midnight.  (Laughter)  All right.  So July 30th.


MS. EHNES:  One of the things that has delayed that was just, when I came on, I took a fresh look at that and made some changes and that did, in fact, delay it a bit but hopefully that strengthened it a little.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  You reference in your discussion in AB 1455, that in the past month, two of the three—three enforcement actions have been undertaken.  Two of the three matters involved letters of admonishment but no penalties were issued because the number of claims not paid in a timely manner were minimal.


Can you tell us how many claims were not paid?  When you say it was minimal, how do you define minimal?


MR. DONOHUE:  Minimal is we do a sampling when we do our audits.  We take it from a time period.  Depending on the size of the claims that we are actually auditing in any particular health plan, we do the percentage off of that, so it was approximately 2 percent.  And my recollection, it was less than 10.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Less than 10?


MR. DONOHUE:  Less than 10.


SENATOR SPEIER:  The percent is somewhat…


MR. DONOHUE:  It wasn't 2 percent of their entire claims payment for a year period or a three-year period.  No.  It was a sampling that we do.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So give us an example of what rises to the letter of admonishment but not penalties?


MR. DONOHUE:  A typical example would be, before the AB 1455 regulations occurred, a strict reading under 1371 would say that you must pay interest on your claims if you don't pay them within 45 days unless you've contested them or not contested them.  In theory, you could take each and every one of your claims late so long as you always included the interest.  With a new approach under the AB 1455, we are looking at the claims and we're saying it's not good enough just to pay interest.  You've got to pay them on time.  That is not a safety valve for you to delay payment. 


So when we have been looking at these claims, all these claims are pre-AB 1455.  So in those areas where we've gone that extra step and we've strengthened the AB 1455, we're using the admonishments, the warning letters, and the like, to alert the health plans, Yes, this is pre-AB 1455 regulations.  And beware, when we come around the second time, the learning curve will not be granted.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So if they were pre-1455, they're probably three years old.


MR. DONOHUE:  When we do our three-year cycle—and pre-AB 1455 is what I’m talking about—is our regulations which really became effective January 1, 2004.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  You brought six enforcement actions.  Who are the health plans that are the subject of these enforcement actions, results of complaints of unfair payment practices?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Could I call our chief of enforcement, acting chief of enforcement, Debra Denton, please?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Bring up a chair, if you'd like.  If there are no more, we can maybe get you one.


MS. EHNES:  While she's coming up, I wanted to acknowledge, we are missing our chief in this enforcement area but I wanted to acknowledge Debra's efforts, just doing a terrific job for us in that capacity.


MS. DEBRA DENTON:  Thank you.  Although we have confidentiality related to investigations, I can tell you that we have four plans involved in these six enforcement actions.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Why is that confidential?


MS. DENTON:  Because it could impact the investigation itself, the ability for the plan to provide us with the necessary documents that we're looking for.  We just like to keep everything about…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, you may like to.


MS. DENTON:  We're required by law to keep these investigations confidential.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You're required by law.  Would you provide the committee with what that section is?


MS. DENTON:  I believe it is Civil Code Section 6254 but I will get that information.


MS. EHNES:  We're in the investigation stage.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You're in the investigation stage?


MS. DENTON:  Yes, ma'am.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And when will your investigation be complete?


MS. DENTON:  Once we've gathered all the documents necessary.  We usually do this investigation like a civil case.  So it goes to discovery.  We try to gather all the evidence.  A lot of the information that's provided to us through complaints, so to speak, as these were are not necessarily prepared for litigation.  They're not documents that would be admissible in court or in an administrative hearing, so we go through a discovery process.  So not only do we investigate the complaint, but we try to gather the necessary evidence to prove our case and win our case.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So when will we be able to find out whether or not—when does this information become public?


MS. DENTON:  When it results in an action, a final enforcement action.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.


MS. DENTON:  Are you asking a timeframe?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Yes.


MS. DENTON:  I couldn't give you a specific timeframe.  What I can tell you is that generally, as a rule, discovery takes—we provide the plan at least 30 days to respond to discovery.  After that, we review the discovery, review all the documents that are submitted, and that can take some time as well.  So a good-case scenario could be two months but I could not promise that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So report to us when you have in fact brought actions, if you do.


MS. DENTON:  We will do that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So we've talked a lot about 1455.  In your comments, there was some reference.  Our emergency room providers are more likely to have claims payment disputes than non-emergency providers.  These are some of the questions you're asking yourselves as you implement 1455.  If so, is the reimbursement level too low or the bill charges too high?  Once determined, appropriate, corrective action strategies can be developed in these areas.  I circled corrective action because you must have some idea of what kinds of corrective actions you foresee yourselves taking if you see that the reimbursement levels are too low or the bill charge is too high.  What would they be?


MR. DONOHUE:  It's a little bit more difficult when the reimbursement or when the bill charges are too high if there's upcoding and the like because the department doesn't regulate the individual provider.  It's much easier for the department to get a handle on what is going on when it's a regulated entity so the health plan is relatively an easy--in terms of managing the expectations.

One of the things that we've required is that every health plan and every capitated provider have a methodology to determine their reimbursement of non-contracted provider claims based upon traditional California principles with reasonable and customary value.  There's six factors that come from the could decision.  We weren't creative; we took that word for word, including the commas, and we intend to verify that they have appropriate methodologies.  If they don't have appropriate methodologies, they'll get them because our full arsenal of Knox-Keene enforcement mechanisms would be available to us.  As it relates to an IPA or a medical group or a hospital systems our AB 1455 regulations mandate that the plan must have in their contract with those capitated providers the ability to pull back the claims payment for any deficient group.  And part of our reporting now is to require each and every capitated provider who's paying claims to report to the health plan on a quarterly basis and the healthy plans are going to report to us all their deficient groups so that we are forcing the level of oversight that the health plan has on their contracting partners to a newer and broader level than has ever been done that I'm aware of since the Knox-Keene act has been enacted.

So we have many tools at our disposal as it relates to the payers, as it relates to the providers, to the extent that there's outlyers in that area.  We may be in need of some creative solutions from this institution.  In don't know but we don’t know at this point where the problems lie.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Some regulators have the ability to allege criminal fraud.  Do you see that as a power or authority you could use?


MR. DONOHUE:  We have administrative, civil, and criminal remedies available to us under the Knox-Keene Act.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Let's move through this because I want to be able to have all the other witnesses.  If you can just answer briskly the questions.


The director's power to waive the Knox-Keene act, frankly, was not something that I had ever focused on until this hearing and I was not really aware that the limited licenses became effective as a result of the institution or the utilization of this power.

I guess, Ms. Ehnes, I ask you this question not because I believe it would ever become an issue under your leadership, but having that kind of power can be abused in the wrong hands.


Do you see—and this has been a power that's been there for sometime.  I guess it relates back to the Department of Corrections—Department of Corporations.


MS. EHNES:  It feels like that sometimes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So I guess, I'm wondering, do we need to do anything with this power to guard against potential abuse in the future?


MS. EHNES:  Well, I'm going to ask Lou to handle that in the main, but I do believe—again, I'll have him handle it because all of those waivers were done before I was ever on board.  But to the question of whether the director should exercise a certain amount of discretion in order to respond to market conditions and potential public policy considerations, I think the director should retain that discretion.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me ask it a different way.  Of those waivers that have been granted, do you concur with all of those?


MS. EHNES:  Well, I have reviewed those and I would say that the limited licenses, I'm not informed enough about what those conditions were that gave rise to the notion that they should be granted exemptions.  But in terms of some of the other waivers, it is my understanding that they were intended to fulfill governmental public policy considerations that would potentially expand coverage to hard-to-reach, hard-to-insure populations.  And with that, I would agree.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is there any requirement under the law that you've made public these waivers?


MR. CHARTRAND:  I don’t think there is a requirement that we make them public but I think, as a matter of course, we've—as long as I've been in the department—tried to be as transparent as possible by putting things on the website that we have.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So you have put them on the website?


MR. CHARTRAND:  I believe we have.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Any comments on that?  If you basically think it's a great power and shouldn't be restrained at all, you can just say that.


MS. EHNES:  That would be my opinion.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  I guess the question I have, and it's not one that we were able to answer is, whether or not the Department of Health Services has the same authority to waive.  Okay.  We've been told that the Department of Health Services does not have such authority to waive, for instance, the Health and Safety Code.  I just want to put you on notice that we're going to look at this because I’m not comfortable in the long term as to whether or not this is good public policy.  It's a vestige of the law at a different time in the department's history—actually, pre-department history—and I’m just thinking respectively that there may be some reason to look at that.


MS. EHNES:  I understand that and I understand your concerns and certainly those other concerns that we have used to look at, even during my tenure now, we've had people to come in and ask for that.  We have exercised extreme caution and have not approved any of it.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  All right.  I'm going to move now to number four in your response where you talked about the regulations you're developing on the prescription-drug benefit, SB 842.  You're suggesting releasing the draft regulations for public comment this summer.


MR. CHARTRAND:  That's true.  I would like to call Warren Barnes who manages our Office of Legal Services.


MR. WARREN BARNES:  I'm Warren Barnes, acting head of Legal Services.  Our SB 842 regulations will probably be available for a public review in early fall.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You said, comments this summer…


MR. BARNES:  That was our expectation.


SENATOR SPEIER:  …so in two days, you moved the date.


MR. BARNES:  That was our expectation.  However, we a very fine submission that we had not anticipated from a consumer group and we're doing some modest redrafting on the basis of their input. 


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Fair enough.


The question that came to mind in this discussion when you were responding to whether or not you're tracking co-pays and deductibles, is when does a change in what the co-pay or deductible is become material for purposes of review?


MR. BARNES:  Any and all substantive changes in benefits, including co-payments or deductibles, are material if it's a substantive change.  If it's merely a non-substantive change, difference in grammar or difference in organization, then it's not significant.  But if it's a substantive change, co-payments or deductibles, of course, are never reduced.  They're always increased.  So in the increase or any new copayment or new deductible, it would always be material for review.


However, evidences of coverage and planned contracts are reviewed under Section 1352.1 of the Knox-Keene Act and that is an amendment procedure.  So no copayment or deductible for a prescription or for any other service is ever a material modification by statute.  They’re amendments under a special amendment procedure of 1352.1, which essentially requires a 30-day advance submission for all individual documents and for the group documents or plans that are not seasoned.  If a plan is a seasoned plan, I believe it's been in business for approximately five years and has, figuratively speaking, not gotten into trouble, they can send the evidence of coverage or planned contrast in for review ten days after it's been used.  But they rarely do that because most plans don't want to undertake the risk of quoting a premium on the assumption that a particular benefit will be acceptable and then find out that it's not.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Let me see if I understand this.


As an amendment then, it's more ministerial and doesn't have approval per se by the department?


MR. BARNES:  No.  I would not say that it's more ministerial.  It's just a separate type of procedure.  The department is still in the position to approve or disapprove and in fact does.  It's still material, in other words.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Okay.  So if the co-pay for prescription drugs goes from $25 to $30, it's going to be considered the same way as one that goes from $25 to $100?


MR. BARNES:  They're both going to be reviewed and scrutinized, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Okay.


MS. EHNES:  May I quickly note, that on this prescription drug, again, a regulation, this was one that I inherited and so I did my own review of that.  In the course of that review, came across a letter in the file that had been sent somewhere long before the drug regulation was written that I thought was an excellent letter in addressing some of the issues.  So for that reason, I sent this one back to have some redrafting in light of some concerns that I had so that's what's held it up a bit.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  On page 2 of this tab, you referenced, that since the effective date of SB 842, that the department has approved several material modifications allowing plans to exclude prescription drugs for limited purposes even though they may be medically necessary for some enrollees.  Could you explain that?


MR. BARNES:  Yes.  Those are all cases where plans have applied for and received approval for material modification and those are all posted on the department's website under New Product Advisories.  There's a link on the home page that says, If you're interested in new products, click here.  They're all listed there.  Viagra is one; cosmetic is another.  There's about a handful of them.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But these are drugs that have been excluded.


MR. BARNES:  That's correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So there is a whole series of them?


MR. BARNES:  I believe there are…


SENATOR SPEIER:  You said several.


MR. BARNES:  Yes.  There are approximately seven or eight of them that have been approved to date.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And your knowledge is that there are drugs like Viagra?


MR. BARNES:  Viagra is one of them.  Drugs that shorten the duration of a common cold is another one; cosmetic drugs, drugs to enhance normal function that aren't medically necessary for a medical condition is another.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If I recall correctly, the department took action and required Kaiser to cover Viagra when they attempted to exclude it.  And now you're saying that the department is excluding Viagra?


MR. BARNES:  The Department of Corporations did prohibit Kaiser from excluding Viagra.  That was subsequently litigated and the Department of Managed Health Care, under SB 842, has come to the conclusion that it's acceptable to exclude Viagra and has approved that for Kaiser.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So it's now excluded from Kaiser.  How about other plans?


MR. BARNES:  Other plans are authorized to include it, if they're so inclined, but I haven't done a survey to see what they have.


SENATOR SPEIER:  We asked the question, Is there a maximum out-of-pocket cost an enrollee can incur under the act?


You indicate that they be reasonable and in compliance with the other pertinent provisions of Knox-Keene, and then you go on to say that there is a deductible that has been approved that is a deductible of $3,500?


MR. BARNES:  I gather that you're speaking of basic healthcare coverage per se, not prescription coverage…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Correct.


MR. BARNES:  Normally, the department will not approve a deductible or co-payment unless it's subject to an out-of-pocket maximum.  That's normally a condition to assure that there is a degree of reasonableness to the patient's total potential out-of-pocket liability—3,500, I believe, has been approved within the last 12 months.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Which plan has requested a $3,500 deductible?


MR. BARNES:  I believe it was Kaiser.  I'm not positive.


One of the considerations the department has in its review and approval of terms and conditions of coverage is, we believe it's in the public interest to make managed-care products as widely available to the public as possible.  If the regulation is too rigid and too constricting, all the employer has to do is to tell his or her agent that we'll buy something from the Department of Insurance which, for all practical purposes, by comparison, is relatively unregulated.


For example, SB 842 does not apply to insurance companies.  The requirement that the companies provide basic healthcare services does not apply to insurance companies.  So there is a back door to Knox-Keene.  So the goal of maximizing the number of Californians who benefit from managed care and at the same time assuring that the terms and conditions of coverage are fair to all parties is a tough balancing act.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Right.  Okay.  Thank you.


Let's move onto Independent Medical Review—that's your Tab 6.  I found it interesting that the medical review numbers appeared to go up in 2003 and then plummeted in 2004—I mean really plummeted.  It went from 55 cases—well, this is to date.


MS. BOBBIE REAGAN:  Right.  I think you're looking—first of all, I'm Bobbie Reagan and I'm with the HMO Help Center.  I believe that you're looking at 2004 to date so that is probably about, almost six months' worth.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let's say, cancers, in 2002, there were 55, 58 IMRs on cancer; there were 55 in 2003; there are 2 so far…


MS. REAGAN:  It's under the line.  Look under the line.  The way it's typed on that page, there's another number.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  But still, it's a dramatic drop.


MS. REAGAN:  It's 26.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Twenty-six?


MS. REAGAN:  When the book was put together, there wasn't enough room on the page so it looks like there's two but it's 26.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


MS. REAGAN:  And actually, our Independent Medical Reviews are pretty consistent over the years.  We've received more this year than when we started the program but they are pretty consistent at this point.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So what we're seeing—so this is 26 to date in 2004?


MS. REAGAN:  Correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So it's close to 52.  Okay.  I've got it now.  All right.  Takes care of that.


MS. REAGAN:  Yes.  It was a little confusing.  I looked at it too and thought, hmm, that something's not right here.


Can I give a short little…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Sure.


MS. REAGAN:  Okay.  Because I think it might answer some of your questions.


The department's IMR system continues to effectively provide impartial specialty reviews of denials involving issues of medical necessity or experimental investigational treatments.  About 200 cases are decided each quarter and it looks as though that number is remaining fairly constant.  Of recent note, our new contract with the Center for Health Dispute Resolution to continue to provide reviews for both the DMHC and the Department of Insurance and the department's mutual efforts to combine our oversight activities regarding California's IMR process.  Health plans have continued to be supportive throughout the IMR process.  Sufficient medical information has been obtained to allow the assigned specialist to make a decision following the review.  A few decisions have prompted inquiries about the foundation for the reviewer's conclusions but the decisions have been implemented.


Similarly, enrollees and providers have been very appreciative of the IMR process.  We continue to encourage comments and suggestions from all of the stakeholders interested in the application of this alternative dispute resolution mechanism.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Would you try not to read and just give us an overview?


MS. REAGAN:  Sure.  Some of your questions dealt with what we've learned through our IMR experience, and we believe that it's very important to encourage the evidence-based medicine because we find some plans have not been following NIH standards.  We've also been finding that a lot of the IMRs are very similar over the years, the same numbers, in some of the same categories.  The success ratios are pretty much consistent, a little bit more for the plans than for the enrollee.  You can interpret that many ways.  You can interpret it that the grievance system is working for the enrollee and that's why the review organization has come up with a concurrence.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How many enforcement actions have you taken in response to these patient grievances, that their care was inappropriately denied?


MS. REAGAN:  I don't know that number.  The enforcement division does know that number but I can tell you that the enforcement actions have been based on the plans not providing the Independent Medical Review application with their denial letter and also that the medical records are submitted later.  They're not submitted timely to the review organization.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me ask this question:  If this plan denies care three, four, five times, and each time the Independent Medical Review says you have to provide it, there's a pattern there.


MS. REAGAN:  That isn't really what happens because the determination is binding on the plan and we've had very few…


SENATOR SPEIER:  No.  I understand that.  That's not my point.  My point is, these are individual cases.  So if you're smart enough to know the system and you seek Independent Medical Review and the plan is overturned, you get your services.


MS. REAGAN:  Correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It happens again, you get your services.  It happens a third time, you get your services.


At what point do you and the department say, You know, what?  There's a problem here.  And while many other people may not be getting the services, they're not smart enough to ask for the Independent Medical Review.  And from the plan's perspective, hey, we'll take care of the ones that actually get elevated through IMR.  But for all those folks who aren't smart enough to use IMR, we'll save a lot of money.


MS. REAGAN:  We do look at that and it's not easy to do a comparison because everybody's file, medical files, are different.  But if we do see an area where the plans are continually overturned—as we did in the bariatric surgery—the plans have been, revised their policy.  So now, when we receive a lot of requests for bariatric surgery, it’s not for the one that's been approved in standard of care.  It's for some new method.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  So the answer to the question then is, for bariatric surgery, you've actually gone back and required the plans to come up with some…


MS. REAGAN:  Well, the plans have been working with us so it's a discussion with the medical directors.  We even had a clinical advisory panel meeting on the subject and then meeting with the plans.  They've all realized that they needed to revise their policies.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me just tell you from a perspective of someone who spent many hours on Independent Medical Review when it was a bill, before it became a law.


The intention always was that, while the individual patient's case was being reviewed, and it would be binding on the party, the intention was that it be a tool for the department to use to determine whether or not there was compliance by the plan in terms of providing medical care that was necessary and that we didn't want it to just be a means by which individuals succeeded in getting individual care but that there was some consistency in the providing of care that a plan gave to all of its enrollees.


MS. REAGAN:  Correct.  And we continually look for trends and areas that we need to have some policy review on, dependent upon the outcome of the individual cases.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So it sounds like it's an informal interaction that goes on but you don’t specifically go and demand or require them to…


MS. REAGAN:  Change their policy?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Yes.


MS. REAGAN:  No.  We do not, but what we do is we work with their—we talk to the medical directors.  They very closely review all of the cases that have been overturned to see where they might be able to do a better job or what the issue was.  And from the contact and looking at the reviews, plans do change their policies.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Ms. Ehnes, that's an area that I would like for you to review because it certainly was my recollection that it was our intention to give you the authority to go back and then say, you know, you need to change your…


MS. REAGAN:  I will review the law and review what we're doing.  It is my understanding that most of these cases are close calls around experimental investigational treatments and around medical necessity calls to the extent—and therefore tend to be very fact specific.  However, you are absolutely correct, that to the extent that they represent trends or patterns in denials of appropriate or medically necessary treatment, we do need to be looking at that and I will.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Nationally, the plans tend to be overturned 50 percent of the time.  That is not the case here in California.  You responded to that in your written comments.  Would you like to just articulate them?


MS. REAGAN:  Yes.  There really is no national standard and there's so many variables dealing with the IMR process between the law, what's eligible, how the process works, that it's really difficult to compare, and then there's a lot of issues again.  Is it because the plans are doing the right job; and then when a person goes to Independent Medical Review, they agree with a plan?  So at this point, we don't feel that there is national standard but we are utilizing…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me interrupt you for a moment.  This is a Leg. Analyst Report in December of 2001 that found that nationally IMR organizations tended to split evenly in favor of patients and plans, and decisions in California tended to favor plans.  So you're disputing the Leg. Analyst's review of national…


MS. REAGAN:  All I'm saying is that the comparison isn't always equal because there are different statutes and there's different—nothing is exactly the same from state to state.


MS. EHNES:  May I speak to that just because I helped pass our IMR bill in Colorado and they all helped implement it.  But I will tell you that implementation was not nearly as robust as this HMO Help Center approach.  So at the HMO Help Center, you have a three-way call around medical necessity.  You're going to potentially get rid of a lot of the easier cases and you really truly then are potentially dealing with the cases that really truly belong in IMR; and therefore, you are not necessarily going to see either the same reversal rate as you might see in state that doesn't have such a proactive, front-end approach to this.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  That's a good point which would then suggest that in the help line, it may be worthwhile to also look at trends that may appear there in terms of going back to the plans and having them modify their procedures.


MS. EHNES:  Yes.  I hear you and I will look into it.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  So if we look at the Independent Medical Review by year, though, we had 556 medical necessity reviews.  We had a total of 689.  It jumped up to 731 in 2003.  We're looking at 228 this year so we're probably down by about 200 from last year.


MS. EHNES:  Well, actually, again, I think we should have put down there exactly what year to date meant because that was only five months.  It was through May, the statistics.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  So are you saying you're still attracting the same basically?


MS. EHNES:  We are and we're receiving the same amount per month.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  I'm going to forego some of these other questions right now to get to some of the testimony.  We'll come back to these, I think.


All right.  Let's hear from some of the witnesses as stakeholders.


Who has the most troubling timing issue?  All right.  Mr. Flanagan says he has to be out of here by 5:30 but you're not going to talk for the next hour and 20 minutes, are you?


MR. JERRY FLANAGAN:  I guess I can now, right?  (Laughter)


Thank you, Madam Chair, for the opportunity to testify. 


Jerry Flanagan, the Foundation for Taxpayer and Consumer Rights.  I'm going to take just a few moments in the testimony to elucidate some of the concerns we have with some of the financial oversight of plans, particularly some of the issues that have been brought to light in the pending merger of Wellpoint-Anthem that you have heard a lot about in the previous oversight hearings.  I just wanted to bring some of these up.  Written comments were provided to the staff.  We'll go into detail concerning the IMR and some of the other technical issues.


Very quickly, though, we think that the department both needs to create potentially new laws to the legislature this year or next and there's a couple of areas where the department can and should be doing a better job of implementing the intent of the Knox-Keene Act and allowances already under law.


Number one is in a time—where, as Ms. Ehnes stated in the beginning—where the department is striving to make healthcare and we make sure it's retained to be affordable and accessible for thousands of California families who can't afford healthcare, we have to do everything we can in terms of this department to make sure that HMOs are as efficient as possible with the dollars we spend.


One of the concerns we've had over the years is that the mounting mergers have removed a good chunk of competition from the market.  Seven insurers control about 84 percent of the market, four of them over 50 percent.  And as that plan has coalesced, we see a couple of things happen.


One, instead of the market becoming more efficient because we have larger plans—and that's what HMOs always promise when mergers occur—we've seen just the opposite.  In fact, plans have become more inefficient.  Medical loss ratios or the amount of money that's spent on overhead versus medical care are as high as 30 percent.  Blue Cross of California—of the seven HMOs that control the majority of market, it has the worst medical loss ratio, about 21 percent, meaning 21 percent of the money that it collects goes to non-medical care.  The effect for patients is they're paying more for less healthcare.

In the merger that's under consideration, currently, a billion dollars of the plan, Blue Cross's tangible net equity or cash reserves could be transferred up the new parent company, Anthem in Indianapolis.  If that’s allowed to happen, the effect will be to remove a billion dollars of patient-funded reserves from the state which I think inevitably has to mean that patients will pay more in premiums. 


To date, the draft undertakings in the merger, there hasn't been any guarantees that premiums won't increase as a result of the merger.  So in terms of new statutory requirements, we think all this creates a strong case for regulatory oversight of premiums.  We've spoken in the past in other committees about prior approval of premiums for the director or the Department of Insurance to have the authority to deny rates being excessive or unfair.  And certainly, the fact that the 15 percent trigger that we heard about earlier that determines whether a plan is being inefficient or efficient could trigger regulatory oversight, that number does not include profits.  If you include profit for Blue Cross, their percentage is 21 percent.  So clearly, well over the top of that statutory requirement, that number does not include excessive tangible net equity.  It was another key issue that we needed to deal with.


The department can require minimum reserves on hand so that an HMO, if it goes insolvent, can protect its patients.  As we heard from Steve Thompson, insolvency is not an issue.  These big plans have huge amounts of reserves on hand.  In fact, at the end of 2003, the seven big plans had $2.6 billion in excess, tangible net equity or reserves.  What that essentially means for patient is, is that patients are paying more in their premiums to fund these reserves and that they're getting less healthcare.  And the threat now is that the amount of money that Blue Cross has at hand may leave the state.

We think that absolutely, we need to have an adequate, protective, tangible net equity, and that might be 100 percent or 200 percent of the state requirements.  But when these plans have 400 and 500 percent of the state reserves, protective posturing becomes siphoning or essentially removing money from the healthcare system that should be providing healthcare, and the effect is providers get less healthcare and patients pay more for less healthcare and that absolutely has to end; and we need new legislative statutes that provide the department to go in and say, you've got too much money in those reserves.  You've got to pump that back into providers and back into the quality healthcare system for that billion dollars that's under threat to leave the state in the Blue Cross merger that should go back to patients; it should be refunded.  That money could leave the state and go to Indianapolis.  And being the new parent company, that money was paid in good faith by patients to provide healthcare and it was promised to do so and now that's going to be used to provide $607 million in executive payouts to Blue Cross executives up to—in the proposed merger.


Moving very quickly, one of the interesting things that came out of the Department of Insurance hearing last week on Friday on the merger, is that since 2000, Blue Cross of California has upstreamed or transferred to its parent company $1.3 billion in reserves from the state.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Sounds like PG&E, doesn't it?


MR. FLANAGAN:  It's exactly what happened with PG&E, absolutely.  People know during the rolling blackouts or prior to, PG&E transferred $5 billion out of the state and three months later declared bankruptcy.  That's exactly what's happening here.  Once that money leaves the state, Blue Cross of California and California State no longer has control of it.  It’s patient-funded reserves and again, we need to keep that money in California and allow the department to say, No.  Too much surplus means negative impacts in patient care.


That should be in the undertakings.  The draft undertakings, we won't be too focused on that merger and the department has finally scheduled a hearing on the merger.  The draft undertakings that deal with this issue do not adequately address the department's responsibilities under the Knox-Keene Act.  The department clearly has the ability to interrupt the merger or say no to the merger if it will lead to greater administrative effect, expenses for Blue Cross.


I don't see how you can—if a billion dollars leaving the state doesn't increase the costs of Blue Cross of California, I don't know what will.  In the draft undertakings, the fine print allows the merged company to remove $650 million of the Blue Cross reserves.  So we need more protections there.  And maybe something we should probably be talking about as well is, put a lock box around what the department should demand in merger undertakings.


I think the statute is pretty clear and broad in terms of the authority of the department to protect the access to healthcare but it doesn't create a list and so we can't check off the items to ensure the department is making sure that $607 million under the executives and reserves stay in the state.  So I think we need to add some specifics on what is and not allowed in a merger undertaking of these when these mergers occur.


Let's see here.  One other issue, again, going to the efficiency issue and a transparency, is something called Incurred But Not Reported…


SENATOR SPEIER:  IBNR.


MR. FLANAGAN:  Yes, yes.  Essentially what that is, as you know very well, is "expected" expenses for a health plan.  The effect of this is that the HMO will report these and their financial statements as a liability, as an expense.  What happens is, it makes it appear that there's less money on hand to provide adequate healthcare for patients, quality healthcare.  It also allows the HMOs to say to the doctors, They can't pay you as much as you deserve because we don't have the cash on hand.  It also means that the…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Or they're booking it and not paying it.


MR. FLANAGAN:  Right, exactly, exactly.  Or they can say they send a sorry note to their patients or premium payers that we have to raise premiums because, well, with us, we don't have any money.  The administrative issue there, those issues need to be included in the HMO.  When the department looks at how efficient a plan is, all those numbers need to be included, not just "administrative expenses," but any money that's being spent that's not going to medical care and we should also have a process so the department can deny rates that are deemed excessive.


Let's see here.  IMR briefly commented on that.  Understand, I heard for several years the department's arguments that California, because of our Help Center, we will have higher-quality reviews; and therefore, only the most contested cases go to Independent Review.  That very well may be true but there hasn't been enough investigation into those numbers.  Considering how important it is that the IMR be balanced and fair, we really need to have more transparent and a deeper analysis of why our numbers in California—we side more with health plans in these patient-review hearings.  I think there needs to be some…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Flanagan, in fairness, we have a very robust Help Center and I have had many constituents that have been aided by that Help Center where the issue has been resolved; they've gotten the care by the conference calling that takes place.  So in fairness, I think, if we're looking at other states, we need to see if they have the same kind of robustness in terms of that Help Center because I do think that the director is right, that a lot of cases that would end up in IMR never get there because they are negotiated and that's good news for us.


MR. FLANAGAN:  I certainly agree, and our organization worked on that legislation in California and I've worked on similar legislation in New Jersey and I can say California is probably the strongest and the best in terms of weeding out and helping consumers prior to those Independent Medical Reviews and getting the care they need immediately.  That said, we had a very effective process in the past but the current requirements would be that that Help Center be as strong.  So I hope the commitment from the new department director is that that entity be as robust as it has been in terms of helping consumers.


That said, I still would like to see a more detailed analysis of how we're helping consumers up front and how the Help Center is resolving those issues.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Anything else? 


I want to give you an opportunity, Ms. Ehnes, to respond to that.  But a couple of comments to Mr. Flanagan.  I think he's right in his perspective around the tangible net equity.  And having this excessive surplus, for all intents and purposes in the end, and how it can be upstreamed, it reminds me a little bit about state revenues. When you're sitting on $12 billion of surplus, the expectation is the taxpayers are going to get a refund.  And not that it's going to be upstreamed—wherever we would upstream it—God only knows—into the bureaucracy, I guess—and I think that I am not a big fan of having you start to review premium.  I am not there with Mr. Flanagan yet, but I'm going to get there if we continue to have double-digit premium increases.


At the very least, I guess I wonder, A, what do you do in a Blue Cross situation where they're sitting on just a gold mine that have been paid by the enrollees here in California who have been paying some of those double-digit premium increases and who are not necessarily, at least not yet, in terms of the undertaking, getting any guarantee that their premiums aren't going to go up for X number of years.  That many should stay here.  It was paid for by those enrollees with an expectation that it was going to be used on their healthcare.  And, you know, when do we determine that there is in fact excessive premiums being charged?


You're in a tough spot, I understand, but this thing is exploding and it is out of control and everyone in the industry suggests that it's becoming dysfunctional, and I want to give you the opportunity to speak to the merger and what you're doing, what you see coming forward, and then any other comments you want to make to Mr. Flanagan.  But it's a serious, serious issue.


MS. EHNES:  And we agree and I personally agree.


I, first of all, wanted to address Mr. Flanagan regarding the IMR process.  And to me, that is an example of an outstanding system and outstanding practice of good government which is to enable quick resolution of issues.  Those that don't get resolved quickly have a process and a mechanism that at the end of that has an impartial judge or jury that is built into that process and that that is a three-panel position, panel that in fact makes the decision in favor of the plan or the individual.  I certainly will commit to looking at that process to ensure that we have gotten out of that, what we need to, in terms of trends, and to drive home the fact that we fundamentally believe in the process.  But I cannot say that I will interfere with the judgment of the physician panel to say that they should be making a decision one way or the other.  That is, in fact, the credibility of the system.


With regard to this particular merger, the Blue Cross—and let us be really clear.  This is a merger of two entities, both of which are out of California corporate entities.  Wellpoint is licensed, I believe, in Delaware, and Anthem in Indiana.  We are looking at a change in control in the corporate parent of the Blue Cross of California corporation.


And just to give you a little background, because, again, here's something where I walked in three months ago.  This had been filed two weeks previous to that.  It was at that point kind of being handled in the normal course of things.  It was my understanding that there had been a decision at that point not to hold a hearing, at least at that juncture.  I saw that this is an issue that had possibly very major implications, and my concern was that it may trigger a consolidation, a wave of consolidations.


At that point, our review procedures to review this material modification and licensing were not—people were doing, I think, a good job individually but we didn't have necessarily a clearly standardized written review process for that.  So I requested, in fact, that that standardization of review process be undertaken in order to ensure that both as to this review and to any subsequent reviews that we were to do that we clearly understood what our authority was and what our process was and the process by which, and an aspect of that process of review, we would use to call a hearing, a public hearing or a public meeting.


I also, when I saw the implications of that merger, potential implications of that, and saw and understood that the Department of Insurance was at that point set to approve the transaction, I alerted Commissioner Garamendi who was at that time and point very, very involved in the workers' comp and he became aware that this was something that both of us needed to be alerted to and cognizant of and needed to be making sure that we were coordinating and working together.  And so we have been, since then, worked through our review process, gotten to that point in that process of review, where we said, Is this the point where we need a public hearing; are we far enough along?  And we have made that decision and we are very, very pleased to be holding that public meeting and to invite the comments of the public in that process.  So with that, I do want to turn it over to Kevin Donohue who's been really handling aspects of the transaction and who also can address some of the broader aspects of that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  We've got lots of people who want to speak so I want you to be as to the point as possible.  Let me just ask you one question, Ms. Ehnes.


MS. EHNES:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You've developed now the criteria when you will hold the public hearing.  What is the criteria?


MS. EHNES:  I'll have to get that to you.  It's actually pretty lengthy.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But you have it in written form that you can share with the committee?


MS. EHNES:  Yes.  I do.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Thank you.


MR. DONOHUE:  Just as I want everyone to understand, and that's one of the major reasons we're having a public hearing, is to educate people, that there are expectations relating to broader public policy issues that are important, to which the department on an individual basis, as members of the department and as an agency, we have concerns with.  But as regulators, we're limited by three propositions—we must be objective, we must be fair, and we must be predictable.  And the only way to accomplish those goals is to apply the law as it is today in an objective fashion and that's what our regulation and our review of this occurred.  You must be mindful that there is a difference between a for profit and a non-for profit.  Whether that should be allowed or not is beyond the regulatory authority of this department.


We also are mindful that this is a premium-driven state or market-driven state for premiums.  The fact that a particular plan does better arguably means that they're more efficient and provide better healthcare.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Or they deny or delay access.  Let's be real clear.


MR. DONOHUE:  Absolutely.  That is a possibility.  But the fact that a plan doesn't make any money doesn't mean that they pay the providers better, that they have better administrative costs—


SENATOR SPEIER:  True.


MR. DONOHUE:  --and the like.  So when we look at this, we don't mean to give you the impression that we agree with levels of executive compensation, even in the healthcare industry, or in any other industry, because it all affects all of our 401Ks.  But at this juncture, we tell you that we look at administrative expenses.  They fall within the parameters in the administrative expenses, and we're taking steps to make sure that this transaction is absolutely seamless to California consumers.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I think that—I appreciate your interest in wanting to educate the public at this hearing, but I think it would be appropriate for you to recognize that that hearing is also for the public to provide you with their perspective on what they believe is appropriate.  Now they may not be familiar enough with the law and that's when you can give them that kind of benefit.  But I hope this hearing is more than just your perception that it's educating the public.  I think it's one in which you are going to generally want to receive input and contemplate the recommendations that are made to you.


MS. EHNES:  May I respond since Kevin used words which would not have been my words?  But I very much understand what you're saying.  And I do want to stress too, that after the Joint Legislative Hearing, there were some issues raised.  We went the next day and followed up on those issues.  We were in attendance at Commissioner Garamendi's hearing.  There were some issues raised there, particularly an issue around potentially discriminatory pricing or rates, premium charges.  We have gone out the next day to look into this and require an investigation of that to ensure that our investigation has been as thorough as we can possibly do within the constraints of the law that we have.


We do not, for example, as you know, regulate rates.  And so we can look at, Are they applying these rates in a discriminatory fashion?  But we cannot say that that number is too high.  That is not within our purview.  But this public hearing is something that—public meeting—that we will in fact use as a way to invite and hear from hopefully consumers as much as anyone else because we've heard a lot of other opinions.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Director, let me just give you my particular advice, for what it's worth.


I think there's a lot of things you can do as director to make sure that, as an undertaking, as part of the undertakings for this merger, that the quality of healthcare that Blue Cross offers patients in California, is improved.  And if you look at the Office of Patient Advocate, which I found out is not under your aegis yesterday, but should be, in my estimation, the scorecard for Blue Cross is not good.  At the very least, I think that there should be an undertaking that those, that they invest the kinds of resources, whether they're financial or otherwise, to reflect what some of the other HMOs in California are providing.


Mr. Perkins is showing me Kaiser Permanente North and Blue Shield of California, interestingly enough, both not for profits.  PacifiCare actually has some good stars.  I hate the star system anyway—I've always had a problem—it makes it look like everyone's doing really well when one star really doesn't mean you're doing really well at all.  You're just fair.  I'd rather have that man sitting in the chair where he's sleeping or (laughter)…  So I think this is a legitimate review that you should include in your assessment.


How do you guarantee that the quality of healthcare is not going to be diminished as a result of the merger and what steps should be taken to guarantee them?


MS. EHNES:  We are appropriately struggling with that issue of how do we do that in the context of undertaking and how do we do that in terms of our larger goal and mission to improve the quality of healthcare.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And you're also going to contemplate that Blue Cross in California has a significant share of the Medi-Cal/Healthy Families population.  How do we guarantee that that care does not somehow get reduced or that the number of enrollees is somehow shifted somewhere else as a result?  I'm not saying I have any answers.


So I guess one of the undertakings that you've already agreed, at least that Blue Cross has considered, is that they maintain its efforts in Healthy Families' Medi-Cal aim on the same basis as prior to the merger, assuming the same market and economic conditions as currently exist.  And the question is, is this a meaningful undertaking or a prescription for failure since markets and economic conditions change constantly?  So again…


MR. DONOHUE:  I think your concerns are well noted and we're still working on that language but it's a difficult situation that we find ourselves in because we cannot force a plan to stay, any plant, whether they're merging or not merging or whether in fact, to stay in the market in which they are losing money.  So if the dynamics change to the point where they begin to lose money in a particular product, currently, they…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, why don't you factor that in?  They're certainly not losing money in California.


MR. DONOHUE:  We're attempting to do that in a meaningful way, and I understand your comments and we are working on it to improve that language.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I guess the other thought I had, and I'll leave this issue then, is I really feel that the enrollees in California are going to pay for the package.  It is a silly statement to make that somehow there's going to be some wall put up and none of the Blue Cross enrollees are going to pay for these $200 million to $600 million worth of platinum parachutes.  I mean once it's merged, it's won.  So who are we kidding here?


To the extent that that is going to happen, there needs to be some benefit to those enrollees.  And whether it's some commitment that their premiums aren't going to go up more than the healthcare market basket inflation rate or something—and I don't know if you can go there, but it certainly makes sense in terms of being consistent with a commitment to these enrollees who have been paying for these premiums.


MR. DONOHUE:  We're looking into that.  I mean one of the things that we have in a situation that Blue Cross withdraws from a market or withdraws a product from the market and they have other available products, that they've agreed that they will waive any remaining, pre-existing condition, exclusion, as they move that individual into a new product.  That is actually a substantial benefit because many of those pre-existing conditions are expensive that are on the front end of, often on the front end of getting a new policy and the like so we are working towards that end to get benefit for California cultures.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now my one caution to you is, let's not make this like HIPAA where in fact you can, you can in fact keep your insurance.  You can move it from job to job or job to no job.  But, of course, there was no ceiling on it so the costs went up threefold and you couldn't afford it.  So saying that if someone with a pre-existing condition can still remain in the plan but is going to cost you twice as much is not real.


MR. DONOHUE:  We're looking at that and we place them into comparable plans or comparable products.


MS. EHNES:  We are working on that one because I agree with you and that's a real concern.  It's just the idea that you can get out of one product line or move them into a different product and raise the price.  But, you know, I would ask that you please understand that we are not trying in any fashion to give Blue Cross a pass on this but that we in fact—we will hold them to the law.


One of the statements that you made with regard to looking at waivers and the application of limited licenses—you know, where is that discretion?  What's the bounds of discretion on the director's part to sort of interpret and make up and move beyond?  That's a difficult question and it is an appropriate one that we struggle with in the context of this transaction and I do want to assure you that we are.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I believe you.  And I think the fact that you've been here three months and you identified that issue early is recognition of that.


I will tell you, though, that Anthem and Blue Cross certainly testified to the fact that this request had been provided back in October to the various departments making the case that this has been around for a long time and, therefore, move it along.  Your testimony today suggests that it wasn’t really before the department until April.  I don't know.


MS. EHNES:  Just let me be clear.  Certainly, any information they would have given us back when would have, what we call, sort of pre-filing conference where, in order to ensure that we can meet our timeframes generally for this kind of transaction on the licensing, if there's big issues going on, we always like to get an alert early on and so we have been tracking this transactions.


One of our analysts in the LA office, Kathleen McKnight, has been doing an outstanding job of tracking the merger but we received a filing, and I believe it was March 11th?


MR. DONOHUE:  It was March of this year.


MS. EHNES:  March of this year.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.


Yes, Senator Soto.


SENATOR SOTO:  …but I don't know when it would be.  So if it's in the wrong time, just let me know.  I'm really concerned that the chair was talking about the enrollee and about the problems they have and I've stood there time and time again in line with these people with their little Blue Cross card.  People can't speak English and they get turned away because it doesn't cover this and it doesn't cover that.


Again, if this doesn't fit into this one, a question doesn't fit into this, just please tell me.  How is it that they pay the insurance and they go to the doctor, they get a prescription, and they go to the—and this is where I see them at the drug store in line with their little Blue Cross card.  They go to pay for the prescription and then they're told that that doesn't cover this and it doesn't cover that.  I know they'll have to pay for it instead of covering it.  And either they turn around and walk away because they don't have the money but they were going to pay whatever their part was to pay in their contribution to whatever the thing costs—you know, the medicine costs so much and then they're allowed to pay some of it—what do we do about those people?  What's happening?  Are there any plans or is this the place to address that?  People that are turned away that have cards and they're paying into the system and they don't get their medicine because either, one, they don't understand what they're supposed to be doing, or, it's too much for them to be able to contribute their part.


It really concerns me because it isn't just one or two cases.  And believe me, at my age, I go to the drug store a lot and I often wonder when I see these people turned away because either they can't pay their part or they're not covered on that or whatever it is.  They walk away with their little card and put it back and they don't know what is going on.


Senator Speier, please tell me if this is where we address that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Actually, it's appropriate only because, if there are patterns of denying care that are overturned in an IMR process and it's the person who may not know the system that you're referring to, arguably, that doesn't get the resource that they've actually paid for in their premium, which then allows for the tangible net equity to grow.  So oftentimes, by denying care, you are growing that tangible net equity and…


SENATOR SOTO:  Is there anything that we can do about that?  Do we address that here?


MS. EHNES:  Senator Soto, may I respond?


First of all, let me assure you, there's never a time when you are talking about somebody not getting the care that they need, that I’m not interested and concerned about it.  This is my life's work.  This is what I care about.  And what I am empowered to do might be different than that, but I would always welcome those kinds of concerns because they are…


What you're actually saying is, one of the big issues that we face nationally and that we also face in California in part because of a jurisdictional split between regulation, between the Department of Managed Healthcare and products that are licensed by the Department of Insurance, I would suggest that, to a great extent, the products you're talking about are probably not DMHC-licensed products but maybe licensed by the Department of Insurance and there are a range of products, and many of those products have a broad range of co-pays, deductibles.


SENATOR SOTO:  Let me stop you right there.


MS. EHNES:  Sure.


SENATOR SOTO:  How did I know that that's what you were going to answer?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, you don't know.


SENATOR SOTO:  ​I just thought, well, I know that that's probably one of the ranges that we don't cover.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But it may not be.  It's one of those things where that's why the Help Center is so powerful.

SENATOR SOTO:  Right.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Those individuals should be referred to the Help Center.  They can assess whether or not their plan was being followed or not.  Of course, the co-pays do go up.  We did have the discussion about how amendments are made and the co-pays can go up; and all of a sudden, what was a $10 co-pay last month is now a $30 co-pay.

SENATOR SOTO:  And that really frightens me because I wonder what would be if they didn't have the insurance.  There's a $30 co-pay because I'm amazed at the amount I have to pay even though we have very good insurance and it pays and sometimes I'll wind up paying $70 or $75 for diabetic supplies on just the co-pay, and what would I have to pay if I didn't have that?  Some of these people, most of them in the district that I represent, can't afford this.  So they're working around sick to death, maybe, and there's nobody to help them.  It seems to me that we ought to have something besides Medi-Cal or Medicare or something that would help these people trying to get some kind of attention or get their medicines or prescriptions filled.

Again, Senator Speier, I’m sorry to bring that up here but it is a big concern of mine.

SENATOR SPEIER:  No.  It's a legitimate concern.

SENATOR SOTO:  I'm standing in line with these poor people carrying their babies here, babies on the floor, and putting the prescription out, and then they can't afford to pay the difference even.  I don't know where do we address that and how do we handle it?  Maybe you ought to talk to all the Rite Aid people in my districts and see how they're handling that.  It really is a concern of mine very much.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Thank you.

We're now going to hear from Loren Johnson who is a physician, immediate past president of American College for Emergency Physicians, California Chapter.

Good afternoon.  Dr. Johnson.

DR. LOREN JOHNSON:  Good afternoon, Senator Speier.  Thanks for the opportunity to be here and testify about our experience with our state's managed care system and its regulation.  I appreciate the attendance of Senator Soto as well in being able to speak to both of you.

I'd also like to beg your indulgence and turn part of my testimony time over to my colleague, Myles Riner, if that's okay.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Certainly.  Dr. Reiner.

DR. JOHNSON:  I would just like to sort of introduce our situation.  We represent 2,000 emergency physician members.  There are about 3,000 emergency physicians in California.  Emergency care is America's right to healthcare.  It's the only right guaranteed in law under the federal EMTALA statute, as many of you know.

We have to screen and stabilize everybody that comes to the emergency room, regardless of their ability to pay, so we're in essence, captive servants working in hospitals.  We're independent practitioners.  We're not paid by the hospital; we're not employed by the hospital.  We bill patients and we bill health plans and all of the various public payers as well and we have a meager EMS fund for uncompensated care in California.  All in all, it amounts to less than 50 percent of what we bill, we collect, in emergency departments.  Most departments are doing pretty good if they collect about 40 percent of what they bill, most emergency physicians.  A wide range of averages dips all the way down to 30, 20 percent of what they bill and in some inner-cites and poor areas of the state.

The bottom line is, we're kind of the canary in the coal mine for these issues in and around access.  As you may have seen from the study, a recent study by the Center for Health System Change, we now see that use of emergency departments has increased by 24 percent since 1997 due to the lack, primarily due to the lack of access to primary care for health plan patients.  So we're talking about insured patients.  Now we have to access the emergency department, along with all the real emergencies and trauma care for their acute-care needs, as well as all the acute-care needs of the 7 million uninsured in California.  So we're trying to hold together a system here that is more than managed care, that basically managed care was built largely off the backs of the emergency care safety net that was the best safety net in the world, the best emergency care system in the world.  And managed care never could have even gotten started or prospered had it not basically had this safety net to guarantee access to care for its enrollees.  And in the meantime, now what we have is this travesty of huge amounts of wealth, as you've heard, now leaving California based off the exploitation of this system.

I think our new director, Ms. Ehnes was, in citing the mission of the Department of Managed Healthcare, I think it's extremely hopeful to know that she sincerely believes in the mission, both to protect enrollees and to stabilize the system, and I think that she acknowledged that it's, that to stabilize the system, that has been the huge failing of government and of the department, a historic failing, as it were, that has resulted in an enormous legacy of exploitation on the backs of providers and frankly backfired on providers and onto consumers in many respects, with respect to nonpayment by health plans, balance billing of consumers, which we all would rather not have to do.  We'd all rather be contracted under a good health plan and delegated an organization.  However, we're not able to because of the coercive contracting that goes on in California.

Many of the medical groups are in a powerful position to force us to take, accept lower rates or not contract at all.  So we then go to another non-contracted situation where we're, in many cases, forced to balance bill patients to be made whole and that’s a travesty.  And the department's reaction to that was to create an implied contract opinion that says that we're not allowed, that it's illegal to balance bill patients.  Well, courts have found otherwise and I think they'll continue to find otherwise.  So in essence, what we have here is a department that has made the situation worse and in fact, the AB 1455 regulations have paradoxically made the situation worse for us because they gave the appearance that the department has the authority to get us paid fairly whereas it does not.

Then we go to the courts.  The courts have held that we have an administrative remedy with the Department of Managed Healthcare and the Department of Managed Healthcare and prior legislative testimony has clearly said that it does not have this authority to make health plans and medical groups and managed care payers to pay our bills and therefore we're in that Catch 22 that Mr. Thompson described.  Bottom line, the whole delegated model in California is a gigantic shell game that is perpetrated in inverse price fixing on a massive scale balanced on the backs of providers and consumers and it's almost…

SENATOR SPEIER:  And employers probably.

DR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  And it's almost so big and pervasive that nobody can see it for what it is.  I don’t even think the brightest people in this room have come to grips with it and can see it for what it is.

With that, I'd like to put a more human face on it rather than talk in terms of this grand scale.  I want to give you the human face of it which is Dr. Riner who basically has devoted his career to trying to figure out how to cope with the shell game over the past several years.  If I could…

SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Before he speaks, let me just ask you a question.

Have you just done an evaluation as to how much uncompensated care Blue Cross has not paid emergency physicians in this state?

DR. JOHNSON:  Well, the situation has evolved over time whereas—here's how…

SENATOR SPEIER:  The medical groups pay.

DR. JOHNSON:  Here's how the shell game works:  Under the delegated model, the medical groups are required to pay for the contracting services and for non-contracted services as well.  When they pay an arbitrary amount, let's say—and you'll hear examples from Dr. Reiner—let's say 80 percent of the Medicare rate whereas the emergency physician's rate might be 2X Medicare.  When they pay .8X Medicare, then there's no remedy because we have no remedy with the Department of Managed Healthcare.  We can appeal it to the plan.  If the plan, if we get the plan's attention, if we're enough of a burr under the saddle of the plan and, say, the medical group doesn't pay at all, maybe the plan will pay a default rate of 1X Medicare and then take it out of the medical group's cap rate during the next cycle.  So we've seen those kinds of techniques involved to basically price-fix that Medicare.  So if you do a simple calculation of 1X versus 2X Medicare for all the emergency services in California, you'll find that it goes into the billions.

Isn't it coincidental that Blue Cross has this tangible net equity of a billion and that those executives are going to come away with the majority of that?  The linkage is so–-if you stand back from it, it's like that big painting up there of Yosemite Valley.   It's so obvious that that's what it is—it's Yosemite Valley.  If you look at any one part if it, you don't quite get it.

Have we done calculations?  Well, we know that we did kind of a pencil calculation of the department's Dobertein ?? opinion that we can't balance bill patients and figured that would be a billion-dollar transfer.  But balance billing patients doesn't work very well anyway.  We don’t want to do it.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It's not the way to go.


DR. JOHNSON:  No.  It should be borne by the…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me just ask Ms. Ehnes, where are we on this Dobberteen letter?  Is that still the rule within the department?  Where is Ms. Dobberteen?  (Laughter)  The infamous Ms. Dobberteen.


MS. EHNES:  Who's actually a very nice person, by the way.  (Laughter)  I just need to say this.  But my understanding is that we have not implemented that.  But frankly, that's something, Kevin—I'd like him to respond to.


MR. DONOHUE:  The AB 1455 regulations were intended to correct many of those problems.  To be fair to all parties, if you listen to the payers, the rendition of the facts changes to emergency-room doctors who refuse to contract and they are billing at eight times Medicare.  The department at this juncture doesn't know.  Give us a year; we're going to track it.  We're going to try to get that documentation to find out where the issues are, where the outlyers are, who the outlyers are, if it is the plan, the medical group, which medical groups?  Which sections of the country are we dealing in?  Is it urban or rural?  We don't know the issue.  But what we did do is we said, it must be reasonable customary, built on five or six factors.  The factors are to build, charge data, not only from the individual provider, but other similar providers in the same geographic area.  Medicare, Medi-Cal are not part of the standards, and we have asked them to show us the methodology.  Some plans are still getting it wrong.  We're in the process of addressing that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Dobberteen letter—in or out?


MR. DONOHUE:  The Dobberteen letter—it depends which part.  We still believe that balance billing enrollees is inappropriate, bad solution.  We agree with you in that regard.  What we've attempted to do is obviate the need to move on that prohibition by ratcheting up what the health plans are expected to pay, had been monitoring what the providers are billing, to ensure that there is not unfair billing payment patterns and there's not unfair billing patterns.


So I think that answers your question, but what aspect of the Dobberteen letter are you talking about other than that?


SENATOR SPEIER:  The Dobberteen letter was rulemaking without the benefit of process.  It was just sort of out there.  All of a sudden it was a letter and everyone was going to be subject to it and I think it created a lot of consternation and not a lot of—it just hadn't gone through the process.  It seems like it was—it exceeded the authority of the person proclaiming it.


MR. DONOHUE:  My response to that is, we were in the middle of a very difficult situation with a commitment from emergency-room doctors to the prior administration that, beginning on a certain date, they would begin to, in wholesale fashion, balance bill or bill enrollees first and then let the enrollee pay and then seek reimbursement.  That was a letter that went to the governor's office.  It was in that regard.  We both agree.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Mr. Randlett has jumped to the microphone.  He's not really a participant but we're going to allow him to speak to the Dobberteen letter.


MR. JAMES RANDLETT:  As the person to which the Dobberteen letter was addressed—it was to me—what was just said is absolutely not true.  The Dobberteen letter came out well in advance of our communication with the Governor's Office and we've got the records to prove it, so that's just wrong.


What the Dobberteen letter said—and the question that wasn't answered—is that you can't balance bill the patient.  That was the position taken by that letter and so far hasn't been repudiated, although the courts have repudiated it.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So are emergency physicians balance billing the patient now?


MR. RANDLETT:  They are balance billing the patients now, right.  And it's not right, as Dr. Johnson said.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It isn't.


MR. RANDLETT:  And it's because the HMOs aren't paying their bills, also as Dr. Johnson said.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, Ms. Ehnes, this is a good one for you to…


MS. EHNES:  I don't have any easy issues, do I?


SENATOR SPEIER:  No.  You don't, and we're going to try to help you with them certainly, but emergency-room physicians are very different from every other group of physicians because of EMTALA.  They are indentured servants.  They must provide services.  That alone should put them in a pre-eminent position as opposed to the bottom of the barrel.  I mean they are there providing the critical care to keep people alive, day in and day out.  We've got to find a solution there, and I do think that these physicians have been trying for years to come up with a solution.  I don't necessarily agree with every solution they've come up with, but they are desperately trying to do the right thing or piece together a system that will allow emergency rooms to stay operational.  We've had 50 of them that have actually shut down in the last ten years, I believe.


I don't like the fact that they're balance billing now.  I'm disappointed to hear that—I've got to say that—but there's got to be a better solution.


Dr. Riner—in fairness to him, let him speak.


DR. MYLES RINER:  Thanks.  Hi.  Appreciate it, Senator Speier.


I'm a practicing emergency physician and actually, in deference to Loren, my career has been spent taking care of about 100,000 patients over the last 26 years.  This is sort of a part-time thing that I'm doing.


I'm Cal/AEP's Reimbursement Committee chairman and Managed Care reimbursement manager for our medical group, CEP.  It's a group of about 1,000 physicians and physicians' assistants that serve more than 1.6 million Californians every year and more than 50 emergency departments around the state.  My group has contractual relationships with more than 250 health plans and IPAs throughout the state.  We are willing to contract with health plans that are willing to meet us half way on a reasonable reimbursement schedule.


As you have heard and read in our testimony, emergency care providers in California, we're faced with a conundrum.  We can't sue the plans when their delegated payers underpay our claims and we can't rely on the DMHC to regulate IPAs directly.  The DMHC says it can't force either the plans or their delegated payers to pay these claims correctly, even when the department determines that the claims were not properly paid because they said this would be rate setting.


Furthermore, the department has yet to clarify how they would even decide if a plan's fee schedule for non-contracted providers complies with the regulations.  The only thing we can expect is that the DMHC will levy fines against plans when their delegated payers are grossly non-compliant with AB 1455 regulations and hope that this will convince the plans to mandate that their IPAs comply or de-delegate the payment of these claims and have the health plans pay the claims themselves.


Unfortunately, the DMHC, when faced with several clear violations of AB 1455, has failed to use these opportunities to exercise their oversight responsibility and demonstrate their ability to ensure fair payment of emergency care provider claims.  Here are just two examples:


In 2003, Prospect Medical Group, delegated IPA payer for several health plans, sued the St. John's Emergency Group of Santa Monica for balance billing a small number of its enrollees for the difference between its payment of the claim and the charges of the provider.  In this case, Prospect had chosen to pay based on the Medicare fee schedule, a deeply discounted rate, which covered approximately one-third of the group's customary charges.


Citing the Dobberteen letter, Prospect contended that balance billing by a non-contracted emergency care provider was illegal and that providers must accept payment equal to or less than the Medicare rate.  As we have said, the judge in the case rejected this view and expressly stated that the Dobberteen opinion had no basis in law.  In addition, she opined that there was also no legal basis for defining the Medicare fee schedule as a reasonable rate for non-contracted emergency care services.


The DMHC has even stated that the IPA's practice of paying at Medicare rates is a violation of AB 1455 regulations.  However, the department's only response thus far is to support Prospect's appeal of the court decision and there has been no action taken against health plans to force this IPA to revise its fee schedule and pay these claims properly.


Here's another example.  In early 2004, my own medical group filed a complaint with the DMHC against Bay Valley Medical Group, another IPA that pays non-contract of emergency care providers in appropriately, in this case, 80 percent of the Medicare rate.


Recently, Bay Valley sent a letter to patients which deliberately misquoted the AB 1455 regulations to justify their fee schedule.  When CAL/ACEP complained to the DHMC, Bay Valley was told to correct its statement misquoting the regulations.  Subsequently, Bay Valley sent out new letters to their patients properly quoting the regulations but continuing to insist that payment of these claims at 80 percent of Medicare rates met the requirements of AB 1455 even after the DMHC advised Bay Valley to the contrary.  My group also submitted appeals of these underpayments to Health Net, a plan that contracts with Bay Valley.  However, Health Net has since rejected these appeals and, likewise, in essence, rejected their AB 1455 responsibility.

Finally, my group submitted a formal complaint to Mr. Donohue with accompanying data for hundreds of claims underpaid by Bay Valley asking the department to write a letter requiring the health plan or health plans to assume responsibility for correcting Bay Valley's continuing pattern of violations of AB 1455.  However, the department, so far as we know, has declined to write such a letter, has refused to require the proper payment of these appeal claims, and to date, there has been no change in the way these claims are being paid.


To CAL-ACEP members, this inaction by the department is completely contrary to the director's express intent to hold plans accountable for the incorrect payment of non-contracted emergency care provider claims.  Instead, by its attempts to suppress the rights of non-contracted providers, to balance bill if we have to, by its inaction in the face of clear violations of the regulations, by encouraging plans to sue us for overcharging and balance billing at the same time, it declines to support the rights of providers to sue plans when their delegated payers fail to pay or dissolve in bankruptcy, and by declining to force plans to properly pay claims, even when it has been provided with proof that the claims have been improperly paid, the department seems to have joined in a permissive facilitation with health plans in California to force emergency care providers into an indentured servitude.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You took my words.  (Laughter)


DR. RINER:  Yes.  We are between a rock, a hard place, a brick wall, and a crushing burden.  We hope that Director Ehnes can turn this around, but we need you to support legislation that gives us a private right of action in the courts and we need the governor's signature on that legislation which is SB 1569.


Here's a question that I really don't understand why this isn't the case, but here's a question I think you should ask:  In order to be licensed under Knox-Keene, the health plan has to have contracts with a wide range of specialists and primary-care physicians in order to complete its network of providers.  Why doesn't the DHMC require plans to have contracts with emergency physicians to complete its network?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Good question.


MR. DONOHUE:  Generally, the requirement is that they have a full network of contracting for all medically necessary services which would include that, but we can't force a particular provider to accept a contract.  So in this particular case where you have an emergency room, the HMO philosophy is, that even without a contract, you have a full network because the plan is required to properly reimburse every emergency-room provider, no matter where those services are provided, whether it's in California, on the East Coast, or in a different country.  The obligation is to reimburse, appropriately reimburse the provider's claim.


The argument is, what's properly mean?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Appropriate.


MR. DONOHUE:  The Gould criteria, you know, are there and they're in the regulations.  And for the most part, the main focus of the Gould criteria is, you know, what do other emergency care providers in the area, in the general geographic area, charge?


SENATOR SPEIER:  You know what?  Let me suggest something here.


The insurance commissioner provides for an advisory rate for workers' compensation premium.  It's not one that has the force of law, but it is one on which insurers kind of build up and around and about.


Are you familiar with this?  I mean I recently came out with a rate that there should be a 20 percent reduction based on the workers' comp reform that we did in the state.  Then all the insurers came up with rates and they varied.   Zenith was 10 percent-they were all over.  Maybe the solution is to allow the director to develop what is an advisory rate.


DR. RINER:  Well, we have regulations, AB 1455.  All we're asking is that the department, when it's faced with clear indications that they themselves say, don't meet the regulations—I mean here's a payment fee schedule for non-contracted providers, 80 percent of Medicare that the department, that Mr. Donohue had said to us—and in writing—this would represent a violation of AB 1455.  We've given them proof that that's what they're paying us.  All we're asking is for them—you know, this department would be much more effective with half the staff if they just use their power to make some examples of health plans that don't pay properly and set the record up.  I think the rest of the health plans in the community and the state would, faced with, you know, $100,000 fines for inappropriate payment would step up to the plate and do the right thing without 500 people doing audits all the time.  I mean all they need to do is take a few examples, make a few examples of a few bad actors, and the rest will probably comply.


SENATOR SPEIER:  We hear you.  Let's have Ms. Ehnes respond and then we need to go to the other witnesses because it's getting late.


MS. EHNES:  I want to allow—this is a complex problem, as anyone involved with it knows.  But one of the things I want to make very clear with you, Dr. Riner, and to everyone else, is that our concern over having a patient essentially put in the middle and to some extent taken hostage by the situation should not cloud our perspective, that as you say, that the system, the health system relies on emergency-room physicians showing up in the emergency room to provide care.  We take that very seriously.  This is a complex problem.  It has a lot to do both with law and it has a lot to do with us being able to get our enforcement mechanisms up and running.  I hear this expression of concern and we'll be moving on this.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Anything anyone wants to say on this?


All right.  We're going to move on.


Let me also suggest the following.  I care deeply about this issue.  It is the safety net.  It is in fact what's going to make or break us.  It means the loss of life.  So I would like to convene a meeting of you, director, and representatives from the emergency room community, emergency-room physicians' community, and see if we can fashion some resolution that works.  And maybe it's outside of legislation altogether.  Maybe we use your power that you have to exercise it.  But this is a shell game that has been played out for a long time now and the ramifications of EMTALA, the impact on the safety net during situations that are true crises, is really intolerable and I cannot tolerate balance billing.  I think that's just—

MS. EHNES:  I know.

SENATOR SPEIER:  --horrible.  So let's fix it.


MS. EHNES:  And may I say too, part of the process that we haven't really talked about in terms of enforcement of 1455 is a more informal process that I intend to use to try to convene the stakeholders.  We've been meeting with stakeholders on a monthly basis to kind of hear from them, and we are looking at just the processes that you're talking about in terms of being able to pull people together and hopefully peel back the layers of the onion, at least, to some extent.  So that is part of what our contemplation is in terms of process.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Let's see if we can do that, all right?


All right.  Next.  Ms. Swartz.


MS. SWARTZ:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'm going to make this very short.

Not to beat a dead horse on the IMR, but there are a couple of things that I would like to point out with regard to that.  As you know, I work with a collaborative that has received funding from originally the Wellness Foundation and then the California Healthcare Foundation to monitor consumer input, to monitor development at the Department of Managed Healthcare, and to provide consumer input.  And I have tried to stay awake through endless meetings of the Clinical Advisory Committee, listening to data analysis and clinical descriptions of the IMR, the details of IMR cases.  And I think that we agree with what the chair said, that it's possible that the high upheld rate has to do with assertiveness on behalf of the Help Center; we hope that the present administration continues that attitude, and there are some other areas related to that, that we think are worth looking into.


One is, there's actually not just a high uphold number but a low number of cases, period.  So there's a couple of areas that we have asked the department to look into.


One is, where they make the distinction between—the department decides what case goes to IMR, whether it's a medical necessity versus a coverage, and we have asked that the department take a second look at that decision to see if there's some reason, why cases are being shunted away from IMR.


We have also wanted to get a better handle on the grievances because we think that we can—that's kind of the canary in the mine.  The plans are supposed to report their grievance data.  We think it would be worthwhile to look at what kinds of grievances they're getting and what the resolutions are to see if somehow cases are being blocked at that point or maybe resolved at that point.


Finally, the California Healthcare Foundation is of the opinion that there's still a big problem about consumer knowledge of the process and this goes to what Senator Soto said.  The pharmacy is a prime example of where there's not a good way to get to the consumer.  Some of our Health Consumer Assistance Centers have tried to use the point of service at pharmacy to inform consumers about access to our consumer assistance centers and have been not been terribly successful, even at being able to educate consumers at that point.  So we think that there is work to be done in conjunction with pharmacists in terms of using that as a way to educate consumers.


Just to move onto some general things.  Now that you know how old Mr. Thompson is, you know that I was in elementary school when he was doing all that and so I kind of pick up.  You know, he was there at the development of the Knox-Keene.  I was there when we started the new Department of Managed Healthcare so that's when I came along.


As I mentioned, we had this collaborative that had funding to provide input into the Department of Managed Healthcare and I'm not leaving this for you to read, but this is the collection of comments that we've provided to the Department of Managed Healthcare up to the change in administration and this is the volume of regulatory activity that was going on at the Department of Managed Healthcare.  This is our file to date.  Nothing.  So we're waiting.  I guess the good news is, there's nothing we object to but the bad news there's been nothing and a number of regulations have been held up, as you know.


I noticed even in the list of regulations that have been—that are still pending, they fail to even mention AB 2179 which was due January 1, 2004, the timely access ?? regulations.  Unless I missed something—maybe I slept through them—but I didn't think they'd come out.  We know that there was a little bit of transition but we are kind of waiting eagerly for—and we know some of the fault was at the prior administration.  There were some delays with SB 260, et cetera, but we're still waiting.

The one comment I do want to make about that is that we have been told that they want to go directly to the regulatory process because it's faster.  And, as you know, still none of them have come out.  I hope that the director's clarification about some informal comments from the consumer group was accurate because one thing the prior administration did was allow for public discussion prior to going to the OAL process.  We actually found that helpful.  The OAL process is very rigid.  Its got a rigid timeframe, there's rigid comment allowances, and the department did a process where there was a lot of give and take of public discussion prior to even going to that process and a lot of the kinks could be ironed out before you even put them into the formal process.


The present director of the Department of Health Services calls it iterative because she employed the same process when they implemented healthy families at MRMIB and, again, in that situation, it worked very well.  It allowed them to actually implement the formal regs much more quickly because a lot of the details, the underbrush, was cleared out.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  We'll ask Director Ehnes what her thoughts are about that.


MS. EHNES:  I appreciate the opportunity to respond.


First of all, first of all, I'm going to let Lou Chartrand handle the majority of the questions.  But in terms of—again, I've been there three months and so can only speak to that portion of it.  But I think it is appropriate for me coming on board to have the opportunity to thoroughly review each and every regulation that is potentially going out to the public to ensure that I have looked at every word of that regulation.  And to the extent that that has then entailed sending it back because I didn't either agree with the concept or an approach, I think that's a very legitimate time to take in order to get the regulation right from my standpoint to move it on out.


Again, that does entail delay and I am not accountable and won't be accountable for the delay…


SENATOR SPEIER:  I guess the question is, are you interested in having a give and take that takes places before the actual regulation goes?


MS. EHNES:  Again, I meet on a monthly basis with Margie and Beth Capell to gain that, just that sort of process.  Now to the extent that we don't have a regulation on the table to discuss, we really do kind of need to wait until we've got that going.  But I'm totally open to getting input at any time and, again, this letter that changed my thinking about our approach in the pharmacy was just something I found in a file of my predecessor.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  That's fine.


Let him just finish and then you can comment.


MR. CHARTRAND:  We do have a large number of regulation packages that are moving through the system right now and the access to care was the one you were concerned about?


MS. EHNES:  AB 2179.


MR. CHARTRAND:  I think July 9th, we'll have a public-comment period starting on that, I believe.  You can even talk with me afterwards and we'll go through the list here, if you'd like.


MS. EHNES:  Do you want to mention the others that we've got?


MR. CHARTRAND:  Okay.  The reg packages that we've got pending—the financial solvency regs, access to care, administrative penalties, continuity of care, prescription drug benefits, language assistance access, the language assistance, and some conflict of interest and independent medical review rates—we're considering.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So yours is pending, it sounds like, AB 2179?


MR. CHARTRAND:  I'm not certain of the number.


MS. EHNES:   It is AB 2179.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Ms. Swartz, one last comment?


MS. SWARTZ:  Yes.  The last comment, I wanted to make was on a more positive note, and that is, that we are meeting regularly with the director.  And with regard to the cultural, linguistic statute, they have consulted us and we feel that that's moving along in a favorable fashion.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Great.


Mr. Gallegos, thank you.


MR. MARTIN GALLEGOS:  You're welcome, Madam Chair.  Thank you and good afternoon.


I'm Martin Gallegos with the California Healthcare Association representing about 500 hospitals and health systems in this state, and I want to thank the chair and the committee for the opportunity for us to be here and make some comments, and I will be brief in light of the time, Madam Chair, and I was planning to limit my comments strictly to the AB 1455 regs since a lot has already been said in regards to how the physicians have been dealing with that.  A lot of that, you could say also, as it pertains to hospitals, hospitals are increasingly concerned.  And, by the way, when you say this is with contract as well as non-contract hospitals, but they're very concerned with the worsening payment patterns and reimbursement practices and certain health plans.  This practice has been growing at an alarming rate and we feel as hospitals—our members feel that that's a direct and profound impact on the healthcare system in general and also for hospitals' abilities to be able to provide necessary medical care.


While we've had numerous discussions with the department and we recognize the resource problem and also understand that we don't agree with their claim that they have the inability to adjudicate individual claim disputes, we still nevertheless have felt, and our members have felt, that the department is just unwilling to take any kind of enforcement action, even in light of payment pattern, because one of the experiences we've had is that we take evidence of this type of unfair and untimely payment practice and it's just kind of either ignored or it's sloughed off as an individual claim.  But we have brought spreadsheets to the department to show them that there is indeed a specific pattern of this type of activity by certain plans.  So we're somewhat encouraged by their commitment to begin to implement this provider complaint system, even though their own staff says that it's probably not going to be able to address the broad systemic issues.  At least it's a first step and we commend them for that.  We did attend one of their open houses and spoke with staff.  They did say they were willing to have a working group with the DMHC and CHA members to talk about some of our top issues in this area so we're very encouraged by that.  We hope that that moves forward very quickly so that we can begin to discuss in more detail some of our concerns.


I guess I would just finish by saying that CHA feels that the department has a legal obligation to make determinations on whether or not AB 1455 is indeed being violated.  We think we've provided them with substantial proof to show that there is indeed patterns and these are not just individual cases and we look forward to continuing to work with them, despite what I may have commented here about the department but we do hope to continue to have an ongoing relationship with them, have continued discussions with them.


As I said, there's some indications that are beginning to move in making first steps in a positive direction.  We hope they'll continue.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Gallegos, how long has this information been available to the department?


MR. GALLEGOS:  You know, since I'm not the person who's working on this issue specifically, but this goes back to at least at the time that I have been at CHA, and that's over a year and a half.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.   So that was under another administration?


MR. GALLEGOS:  Well, it started, it started there, but we've also, under the current administration, had been taking these issues to the DMHC staff.  And for the most part, sometimes we don't even get a callback asking for additional information.


SENATOR SPEIER:  That's not good.


MR. GALLEGOS:  Most times, they don't even institute any kind of an investigation on their own and they just essentially tell us, Well, those are individual claims and we don't adjudicate disagreements between two contracted parties.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is that a letter or is that oral communication?


MR. GALLEGOS:  Oh, no.  As I said, we've taken…


SENATOR SPEIER:  No.  From them, from the department, is this an oral communication from the department or is this a written…


MR. GALLEGOS:  To my understanding, I believe it's been oral but I can certainly talk to our policy person that handles this issue and see if there's anything in writing that documents that—


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. GALLEGOS:  —and provide it to the committee, if you'd like.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Comment?


MR. DONOHUE:  I would just respond very quickly.  You can't condemn the limitations or come to the conclusion that the AB 1455 is not an effective tool and the department is not implementing them when the complaints that they talk about pre-date the effective date of the AB 1455 regulations.  We have met with CHA.  We are meeting with them regularly.  And in fact, I think it was just this week that the individual that I deal with directly identified the two issues that he wanted to start a working group with.  I am unaware, since he has both my front-line number and my back-line number, that he has ever not had a returned phone call from me.  I am usually exceedingly good at that and those calls should come to me ultimately.


In fact, last year, I think I did, at their request of two hospitals, did do a, have an unscheduled audit done of a particular health plan or two.  And the results were that about 80 percent of them were PPO products not regulated by the Department of Managed Healthcare--our data wasn't clean—and some of them had been paid, even though, when the books and records of the hospitals—they said they had not received payment—and we tried to work through those.


The goal here is that we work in a collaborative effort to try to identify problems, systemic issues that we can address, and that is the goal here.  We want to correct the system.  We don't get kudos doing it one claim at a time.  We've got to do a better job than that.  That's the goal of the open house.  It just started with them two months ago.  I think it will work but we have to give it some time to implement it and develop the strategies.


MR. CHARTRAND:  In addition, Madam Chair, I directed our enforcement unit to open up some cases.  These are the cases we're talking about, and so we're moving those cases and taking a look to see if there's anything behind them and we're investigating those cases now.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.   So Mr. Gallegos, maybe your frustration is premature with this new administration.  I mean it appears—in fairness to Director Ehnes, she has been there three months—


MR. GALLEGOS:  I understand.


SENATOR SPEIER:  --and we've got to give her an opportunity to succeed and certainly show her leadership style.


The statements to this committee today have been refreshing and I'm very willing to give her an opportunity to…


MR. GALLEGOS:  As are we, Madam Chair, and I’m sure everyone else in Sacramento is too.  Madam Chair, just a couple of requests.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Sure.


MR. GALLEGOS:  You mentioned earlier a bill that you're thinking of introducing next year.  I believe you said it was regarding tax exemption for physicians.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Tax credits or…

MR. GALLEGOS:  Or tax deductions.  Would you entertain, and I'll just toss--you don't have to give an answer right here—but expanding that to physicians and hospitals or using providers?  Because certainly the physicians, the ERs' physicians and the hospitals all find themselves in very similar situations.  We can just discuss this later but if you would just consider that.

SENATOR SPEIER:  We won't negotiate the bill here.  (Laughter)

MR. GALLEGOS:  No.  We won't negotiate the bill.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  All right.

MR. GALLEGOS:  The other is, you mentioned, you were calling some meetings or planning on calling some meetings together with—I think it was with the emergency physicians.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Correct.

MR. GALLEGOS:  But if you'd be willing to include again the other providers who also find themselves in various similar situations with the plans and either late or untimely or unfair reimbursement, we'd like to participate in those.

SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  We'll certainly create that opportunity.  It may not be simultaneously with the emergency-room physicians.  They are in a particularly unique position.  Arguably you could say, you know, that they're part of the hospital but they typically have a contract with the hospitals, but we will certainly create that opportunity for the hospitals. 

MR. GALLEGOS:  I appreciate that, Madam Chair.  Thank you again.

SENATOR SPEIER:  You're welcome.

All right.  Ms. Griffin.

MS. GRIFFIN:  Mary Griffin representing the 120-plus medical groups and IPAs in the State of California.

First of all, thank you very much for this opportunity.  And I'm going to start with the good stuff first so it's okay.  I would tell you that it's been refreshing to deal with this staff and I will say that I've had every call returned and I make frequent calls.

I am very pleased with this stakeholder-meeting concept.


SENATOR SPEIER:  The open houses?


MS. GRIFFIN:  Pardon?


SENATOR SPEIER:  The open houses?


MS. GRIFFIN:  Yes, the open houses, and we get to create the agenda, et cetera, so it's kind of a nice concept.  Unfortunately, we had to cancel ours—not their fault, our fault--but I am looking forward to the next one.  So I think that's a very positive type of approach that they're looking for.  I would tell you, I'm not unhappy that there aren't so many regulations. We spent the last few years answering iteration after iteration after iteration of regulations.  So I'm hopeful that what we can do is get those that are still floating out there, particularly one in particular, SB 260, and get those regulations well on the way, as you well know.


We in the medical groups, are really anxious—and we're not the only ones—for those regulations.  We do believe that those are—basically, what we want to hang our hat on in terms of two things—one, financial solvency and getting around some of the issues that I heard today and bills; and also then being able to deal with what I think is the real crux of fixing this system which is corrective action, which will be part of that regulation package.  At least it was before.


So having said that, I changed my testimony a little bit after hearing the emergency-room doctors.  I will tell you that no one wants to bet, and we don't like balance billing the patient.  We also don't like the fact that people aren't being paid appropriately.  I think there is a definite issue here.  We put a bill in last year—it was AB 1686—the purpose of which was to try to bring the physician community together and try to deal with our problem areas within our medical community.  Unfortunately, we were not able to move that bill in the final analysis, a very big disappointment to me because I hung a lot of things on that.  We had to take the balance billing the patient prohibition out of that, and I won't go into that why, here.


I will tell you that I’m very sympathetic.  I've spent a lot of time in ERs, unfortunately, in the last few months with my next door neighbor—many, many, many hours—three to four different times.  I've never particularly spent a lot of time in ERs before but I will tell you, it's not just the ER physician.  It is the ER physician services that we have to deal with and I will do it—Marty just said and ask you—that when you have a meeting, I think this meeting needs to take place.  In fact, I spoke to Dr. Hertzka about this on the street about three or four days ago.  I think physicians need to come together and resolve their problems.


Yes.  I think that what Dr. Riner said is absolutely true, that there are people--I'm just going to leave it at people—who think they can get to send a bill in for 80 percent of Medicare.  I don't think that the medical groups are going to support that any more than they are going to support the 300 percent of bills, Medicare bills, that they get.  I think we've got to figure out a way to resolve this.  This is not in anyone's best interest, certainly not in the patient's, that we don't do this.  I set up meetings two years ago with the help of Dr. Loren Johnson to try to see if we can move through that.  They had some other things they wanted to work on and so we discontinued that, but I really believe in my heart, I believe the people who have the kind of caring that physicians have for patients can also come together and figure out how the dickens they can make this system work.


I don't want to counter everything that was said because it's irrelevant.  I've listened to it.  We went last year when we were dealing with 1686.  We definitely sat down with the ERs.  We sat down and CMA put some meetings together.  It's very difficult to do.  This is a very difficult issue because you have people who believe that there's upcoding going on.  You have people believing in downcoding.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I know, but you know what?  In the end, Ms. Griffin—and you know that I've had many encounters with those you represent and have worked with you on a number of issues.  The difference is, your medical group physicians can decline patients.  Well, you can.


MS. GRIFFIN:  We could but it's not what our mission is either.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You can decline to take HMO patients.  There's a lot of things you can do that the physician in the emergency room cannot do.


MS. GRIFFIN:  I don’t disagree with you, Senator, but I would like to see this issue resolved.  I think I speak for my medical groups and I would hope you have a great deal of passion for this interest, this issue.  I'd like to see you take leadership in this because you are a natural for this.  And I would commit that we will work with you on this.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


MS. GRIFFIN:  All right?


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


MS. GRIFFIN:  All right.  And I am absolutely committed to the 260 regulations and hope that we see those out here within the next few weeks because we've been waiting patiently, and I know it's not just the department that's looking at them.  Other people are.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Ms. Ehnes knows of my personal interest in seeing these regulations…


MS. GRIFFIN:  We will join you in that.  So I will tell you that, all in all, I would say that we have been pleased with the interaction that the department has had with the medical groups.  I also was informed that they are more than willing to come down and see how a medical group operates.  I think that's a real change because that offer was on the table for a long time, and I would like to certainly see people come and see how does a medical group operate, whether it's through our claims processing system processing our patients.  A lot of the new technologies that are going on and a lot of the new processes, we welcome that. 


So I don’t want to take any more of your time, but I really appreciate the opportunity to speak for the medical groups and I look forward to working with the department.  We'll fight a few times but that's part of the game too so thank you.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Thank you.


Comments?


MS. EHNES:  Yes, if I may respond.


Mary, I really look forward to working with you as well and I hope that that has come through loud and clear to CAP-6 and the other provider groups.


I do want to say here that the delegated model was one that I did not understand very well because I had never regulated that in Colorado.  So I have undertaken to really try and understand the permutations of that model, both in terms of the quality that it can bring, that I'd become convinced of that.  It can in fact improve quality through care coordination, disease management, access to technologies.  I think there's some very good things.


And the downside, which is this issue around financial potential and financial insolvency and these provider issues; but this is an issue that I've been very much on the ground with.  I haven't actually just issued an invitation or requested an invitation that I'll go visit these groups.  I have gone to visit several groups already.  So this is an area that, again, to effectively implement 260, which we intend to do, it was essential that I become very knowledgeable about this area and it's one that I've undertaken to do so.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  A couple of final questions and then we'll call it a day.


Back to your document, there's a reference in seven, Tab 7, Page 2, where the review of complaints and IMR identified a need to address autism issues from a broad policy perspective.  It was noted that there was a significant number of disputes related to coverage and treatment due to emerging therapies and the multiple sources of public/private-sector services available to children with autism.


What have you actually done as it relates to that?


MS. EHNES:  I think we'll have to have Bobbie come up.


I'm aware of the issue concerning the children with autism, Asperger's syndrome, and then also kind of the treatment options available to that and also the issue around mental health parity but I think Bobbie's better suited.

MS. REAGAN:  We are very concerned with it and we are going to have one of our clinical advisory panel meetings bring the plans in and discuss it and bring experts in to have a round table. 


SENATOR SPEIER:  Would you inform the committee?  I think we'd like to have an individual present to participate.


MS. REAGAN:  Sure.


SENATOR SPEIER:  There has been consistently a lack of compliance by plans relative to the mandate associated with osteoporosis screening and I would like for you to undertake a review of that.  It’s a mandate that was put into place back in the early '90s under then Governor Wilson, and I consistently get complaints from patients who say, I was denied the bone mass density screening.  And yet, it's been a mandate for probably 15 years now.


MS. REAGAN:  Okay.  We'll look into that.

SENATOR SPEIER:  And you referenced also that cancer clinical trials as being an area where plans are not complying with the mandate that was provided for that; is that what I’m…


MS. REAGAN:  I don't think that the plans were not complying.  What we were concerned with is that enrollees didn't know about the clinical trials and how to get involved in them.  So we've been working with UC Davis who has a big promotional thing going on where they're talking about—you've probably seen it on TV and heard on the radio—and we've been working very closely with them so that they can send people through us if there are problems getting their health plans to pay for part of the clinical trials.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Or they're paying for the standard treatment.


MS. REAGAN:  Right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  All right.  I think—one last comment.  As we went through the data early on about where you have physicians, where the emphasis within the department lies, if you look in terms of numbers of individuals and actual budget, the Help Center is capturing the lion's share, it would appear, which is a good emphasis, there's no question about it.  I'm troubled by the enforcement component.  I think, if you look at your entire department, you have 23 positions there. And with all of the regulatory function and enforcement functions that are really within your aegis, I wonder to what extent that is really an adequate number of people to provide the kind of enforcement necessary.  It's something for you to review and look at.


MS. REAGAN:  Can I just make a comment on that?  There are attorneys in other sections of the department that also assist with enforcement actions in the sense that the  attorneys in the Help Center look at the complaints and there's a lot of interaction between enforcement and the attorneys doing that kind of work, dealing with complaints and IMRs.


Ms. Ehnez: We will look at that and, again, that was one of the reviews that I requested starting out, was just that whole review of enforcement…

SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, [indeterminate].


MS. REAGAN:  I note your concern there.  I think that's a legitimate one.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Okay.


The Office of Health Plan Oversight.  In a state audit report in 2002, the department noted that the division of financial oversight and the division of licensing are having difficulty completing their work on time.  Financial oversight had a backlog of 13 examinations at the end of calendar year 2001.  During 2001, licensing was late in sending written notifications for 42 of the 122 material modifications it received, in part due to poor tracking systems that triggers to alert managers to overdue items.


We understand you have new IT.  Is that issue resolved or…


MR. Chartrand:  Bill Barcelona is our new chief of licensing and he'll have some comments.


MR. BILL BARCELONA:  Good afternoon, Senator.  I'm Bill Barcelona.


Yes.  There have been several improvements since the audit report in 2002.  Actually, my predecessor, Warren Barnes, implemented a number of new systems to bring review times down to the statutory period of 20 business days for material mods and 30 days for the other filings.


We've struggled against the lack of staff and licensing but we have maintained the review periods and so there's been a great improvement since that audit.  We basically redesigned our systems to comply with any future audit in that regard.


Now as to respect to the IT, we have been embarked on a yearlong process to come up with a new system that would work.  It looks like we're about another two years out until that can be implemented.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.


Office of Patient Advocate.  Is someone here from there?


MR. ED MENDOZA:  Good evening, Senator Speier.  Ed Mendoza, acting director of the Office of Patient Advocate.  I don't know if you want me to go over anything in summary or would you prefer to just ask questions.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I'll just ask questions because the day is long and I'm sure everyone wants to move on.


I must tell you at the outset I have a bias.  I question whether you should be independent; I question whether the office needs to exist or whether it should be folded into the Help Center.


I guess my first question is, you have a budget of about $2 million; is that right?


MR. MENDOZA:  Actually, our total budget is about $4.2 million and that includes a million dollars that we devote to the report card and a $2 million budget for consumer education and the rest is our staff and other operating expenses.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Of the $2 million you use for consumer education, do you tell people about the Help Center?


MR. MENDOZA:  Yes.  That's a standard message that's included in all the materials we provide.  There's always at least one box on a brochure or a folder or whatever that says, If you need help, call the Help Center.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is this one of your documents or is this…


MR. MENDOZA:  No.  That's not ours.


SENATOR SPEIER:  That's not one of yours.


Okay.  So you spent $2 million on outreach?


MR. MENDOZA:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How do you spend it?


MR. MENDOZA:  A large part of that is spent with contracts with local agencies that do local outreach for us so we have eight community-based organizations that roughly, in the year 2003 assisted us in providing outreach to about 24,000 enrollees and that's basically face to face education that would be provided to the individuals at community events throughout the state.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So $2 million, the lion share, that money goes to me?


MR. MENDOZA:  That's about half of it, half of it.  We also spend a good portion of that in the production of materials.  Our primary piece of educational materials is our HMO guide.  That's about an 80-page document that is…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is that this?


MR. MENDOZA:  No.  That's a report card.  The guide actually is much more comprehensive and it's a navigation piece for consumers and we've done about 350,000 of those and distributed those last year.  We have another 100,000 of those which are in the process of being distributed and now…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Sorry.  Do you have a sample?


MR. MENDOZA:  Yes, I do.  I have it in my brief case, if you'd like me to leave it with you or do you want it right now?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Can I see it right now?


MR. MENDOZA:  Sure.


SENATOR SPEIER:  One million for 24,000 people.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Ms. Ehnes, what is your budget for outreach?


MS. EHNES:  I actually don't know.

MS. REAGAN:  We actually don't have a budget for outreach but the Office of Patient Advocate works very closely with us in promoting the Help Center and we've done some very creative things to promote IMR and have some good ideas.


MR. MENDOZA:  So as I was saying, the guide that you have, we've done 450,000 of those and we're going to produce another 200,000 that are specifically targeted towards the senior population, their HMO needs, because we found in our community events a large number of folks that are coming to our booth, if you will, or the booth of our local contractors, our seniors that have a lot of questions about what is an HMO.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  So you have a $4.2 million budget.  You have how many employees?


MR. MENDOZA:  We have 12 positions and ten are filled right now.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How many are exempt?


MR. MENDOZA:  One.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is that you?


MR. MENDOZA:  No.  Actually, it's a vacant position.  It's the patient advocate and that's, by statute, appointed by the governor.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  This is on a web page?


MR. MENDOZA:  It's also available on our website.  It's available, toll free.  You call; we'll send you a free copy.  Its not something that we recommend that people look at on website because of the color and the pictures.  It's a rather huge file.  So it's really meant for a reference for people to have at home.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It's a very expensive document.


MR. MENDOZA:  Yes, it is.  It costs us about $3 a pop.


SENATOR SPEIER:  This isn't replicated anywhere else?


MR. MENDOZA:  No.  In fact, there's no place else in the country that has something like this.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And these are distributed to whom?  There's 300,000 a year?


MR. MENDOZA:  Yes.  We've done roughly 450,000 so far and we're doing another 200,000 which will be done by the end of the summer for the senior population.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Wait a minute.  Is this for this year or in the entirety?


MR. MENDOZA:  Well, actually, most of this occurred in the last year.  We basically decided to do something like this because, in our community events, we are finding that the most common question that we've got in our booth, if you will, our information booth, is what is an HMO?


The second, the one we would explain to people, what an HMO is, they say, Well, I'm in Kaiser.  I'm not in an HMO.


So we found that the issues like Independent Medical Review, Continuity of Coverage, a lot of the things that we felt were important in terms of educational topics, were several levels beyond the average consumer.  And what consumers really wanted to know is, I don't understand my insurance and what am I supposed to do when I want to use my insurance?  And that's what this, that was the point of doing this.


One is to answer some of those questions about what is an HMO and how do I use it.  But also, more importantly, what we also found was that topic brochures, like IMR, for example, are fine if you have a consumer that has an IMR issue at that time that you're talking to them.  But they don't have the information necessarily when they need it and IMR is covered in that, in that booklet, as well as a lot of other topics.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  So this year, this fiscal year, how many copies of this have you printed?


MR. MENDOZA:  Three hundred and fifty thousand.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So this fiscal year…


MR. MENDOZA:  This fiscal year ending today, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So that's…


MR. MENDOZA:  I'm sorry—450,000.  Our initial edition was 350 plus another 100,000.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me tell you my concern.

MR. MENDOZA:  Sure.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Expensive, probably impressive when you sit down and go through it.  Most people get their health insurance through their employer.  Most employers don't give them even a choice.  It's either HMO or not or it's a PPO or not.  Fewer and fewer give their employees a choice between an HMO and a PPO.  So you've got a universe, virtually all of whom are employed, who have human resources, who I would venture to say can get these questions answered in any number of different ways.


When you send out 450,000 of these, that means you're getting to about 1 percent of the population of the state.


MR. MENDOZA:  Well, if you want to look at the HMO population—and really, you mentioned earlier…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Twenty-five million, 20 million.


MR. MENDOZA:  …you said about 20 million.  But really, that represents about 5.5 million households.  And if we were to look at what our target is, it's really at least one HMO guide per household.  That's really kind of how we set our goal, is to have these, every household to have one of these as a reference manual, because it's not, it's not how to choose insurance.  It's how to use your HMO.  And so it starts out with some very basic information as what is an HMO and how is that different from anything else that you might have gotten.  But this is targeted toward the HMO member, not to the general consumer.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So you reference at some point the Department of Managed Healthcare?


MR. MENDOZA:  Oh, yes, in several areas.  Certainly, in the part of the manual there or the document, there are two places.


One is, what if you have a problem, what to do.


Two, if the health plan isn't able to resolve your problem, what to do.

So we have specifically referenced the Department of Managed Healthcare there.  In addition, there are references throughout, depending on where it's appropriate, throughout that publication about when to go to the Department of Managed Healthcare.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And you are funded through what?


MR. MENDOZA:  We're funded from the same funding sources as DMHC.  So we're funded by the health plan fees as well.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You are?


MR. MENDOZA:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  All right.  Well, thank you very much.


Okay.  Any final comments you'd like to make?


MS. EHNES:  No.  I think the day is late and we've covered a lot of ground but I thank you very much for taking the time to do this with us.  I think it's a good opportunity for me to hear and to hear priorities and concerns, both from you and from our stakeholders so I appreciate the opportunity.


Thank you.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Thank you, Director Ehnes.


Thank you all who have participated in the hearing.


I'll make one very exciting announcement that's unrelated to healthcare.  The federal district court just threw out the case by the Bankers Association and SB 1 goes into effect tomorrow fully in place, so congratulations to California's consumers once again.


This committee stands adjourned.

---o0o---
� The Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles found on 12/22/03 that the May 10, 2003 Dobberteen letter was not “dispositive” of the question of balance-billing.  The court found that the opinion in the letter was based on two unpublished decisions, one of which the court was unable to access and the other of which the court found distinguishable from the case at hand because it rested on a Tennessee statute expressly prohibiting non-network emergency physicians from balancing billing enrollees (California law has no such statute).  See page 69, this report, transcript, for more discussion oft the letter and the “St. John’s Hospital case”.


� Department responses received November 12, 2004.  Posted online accompanying this report.   


� The Office of Patient Advocate is not part of the DMHC but has been included in this table to facilitate a complete picture of funding for HMO regulatory activities.
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